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We	have	a	vision

By 2025 the South West of Western Australia 
will be recognised internationally as a region of 
excellence.

To achieve this vision we have a strategic plan
Think of the strategic plan as a sort of roadmap we need to follow 
to reach our destination: A Region of Excellence by 2025.

Supporting this vision is our team
Our staff members work with stakeholders in the region to achieve 
our vision. Our stakeholders are people like you, representing 
areas such as government, community and industry.

Stefania Muscara and Daniela Pirone, who found fame in television 
show My Kitchen Rules, entertain the crowds at Viva Bunbury!
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About this report

Welcome	to	the	South	West	
Development	Commission’s	
annual	report	for	2012/13.
In this report you will find an overview of our 
activities for the financial year.

You will learn how our work benefited the region 
during the year in review, gain insight into how 
local decision-making is helping to shape the 
region, and discover how we are planning for the 
future.

Most of the information about our projects is 
contained in chapters structured around the 
Commission’s strategic plan, which guides the 
Commission’s delivery of services into three key 
areas.

People and Place 

We focus on projects which engage the community 
in developing a vibrant region. This includes planning, 
civic engagement, community infrastructure and 
services, and urban renewal.

Infrastructure and Environment
Our aim is to build modern infrastructure which 
supports industry, maintains a sense of place for our 
communities and values our natural environment.

Knowledge, Enterprise and Innovation
We aim to create jobs, develop greater job diversity 
and increase incomes through a diverse industrial 
base. Projects focus on attracting knowledge-based 
industries and maximising the region’s trade potential.

Online report
This report is available to read online. The 
electronic format has been designed for ease of 
use, without the need to download documents, 
though the report is available to download from our 
website. It also includes exclusive features such as 
a special video message from our chairman. We 
encourage you to read the report online to reduce 
printing costs and environmental impact.

If you choose to print this report, we encourage 
you to use recycled paper.

Our performance
A summary of our corporate performance and 
audited financial statements are provided in this 
report. 

Accessibility
This document is available in alternative formats. 
Contact us on 9792 2000 for more information.

Read this report online at 
www.swdc.wa.gov.au

Royalties	for	Regions
This funding program has been allocated its own 
chapter to highlight the impact it has 
across our three strategic service 
areas. This year’s report on Royalties 
for Regions focuses on the progress being made 
on the SuperTowns program in the South West.

http://www.swdc.wa.gov.au
http://www.swdc.wa.gov.au
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Chairman's report

Development	can	be	a	
dirty	word.	For	those	of	
us	who	live	in	the	South	
West,	the	natural	beauty	
of	our	surroundings	
and	the	healthy	lifestyle	
of	our	region	are	
unique	and	defining	
characteristics.
Unsurprisingly, many people worry 
about the pressures that development 
can place on this. It involves, of 
course, an exquisite balance: the 
wrong sort of development can be 
worse than no development at all. 
But without economic prosperity, 
there cannot be enough jobs, and, 
without jobs, families often must move 
elsewhere in search of opportunities. 
Equally, without social advancement 
and cohesion, without respect and 
leadership, without educational and 
health services, affordable housing 
and aged care there cannot be vibrant 
sustainable communities. 

The South West Development 
Commission recognises these 
imperatives, along with the need to 
secure the safety of the environment 
and the people.

The region’s three SuperTowns have 
made important progress in developing 
their roles as economic and social 
centres within their respective sub-
regions. Underpinned by robust 
growth plans, Collie, Manjimup 
and Margaret River have received 
significant support from the Royalties 
for Regions program. The South West 
benefits from more economic diversity 
than many other regions, and this 
is emphasised by the rich resource 
industry that surrounds Collie, the 
varied and high-quality agriculture that 
surrounds Manjimup, and the tourist 
attractions that make Margaret River a 
globally recognised name. 

In supporting the entire region, we 
must focus to build on its competitive 
advantages, whether in isolated rural 
locations or in major urban areas. 
More than half the region's people 
live in its two cities, Greater Bunbury 
and Busselton. In the future these two 
cities will play an even more important 
part in Western Australian life, and 
it is imperative they be planned and 

developed in a way that will make them 
exciting and attractive places to live, 
work and play, with an optimism and 
buzz that characterises the people of 
the region. 

With gratitude, I acknowledge the 
support and encouragement the 
Commission receives from the 
communities and businesses it serves. 
I thank the Local Governments of our 
region and its Members of Parliament. 

I am grateful to the Minister for 
Regional Development, Hon Brendon 
Grylls, and his office. In particular I 
thank the staff and board members 
of the Commission, who promote and 
support its aims with dedication and 
distinction.

	

Watch my video message
www.swdc.wa.gov.au

STUART HICKS 
CHAIRMAN, SOUTH WEST 
DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION

The year in review  

http://www.swdc.wa.gov.au
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our year in numbers 
and pictures

HIGHLIGHTS

3
The number of SuperTowns in the South West

46
The number of events which received a funding boost through the 

latest round of the South West Events Program

3 
The number of blocks of land sold by the Commission

$5.395m
The amount that was allocated from the sale of our land to South 
West projects

$1.5m
The amount of State Government funding secured towards 
investigating the potential realignment of the Preston River to 
enable the expansion of the Bunbury Inner Harbour

2
The number of original South West Academy of Sport scholarship 
holders which competed at the London Olympic Games

Clockwise from top: Shauna Willis from GWN7 presents 
Jamie and Nicky Batrick-Nolan from Harvest Tours with 
an award at the South West Small Business Awards, 
Olympians Alex Hagan and Lauren Reynolds, Anne-
Marie Gardiner showcases a new tourist drawcard at 
Harvey, and concept designs for enhancing Margaret 
River’s town centre.

The year in review 
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The year in review  

with DON PUNCH
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Executive summary

The	conclusion	of	a	
financial	year	always	
provides	an	ideal	time	to	
reflect	on	the	12	months	
that	have	come	and	
gone.
And I am pleased to report that when 
we look back on 2012/13, we can be 
happy with what we have achieved for 
the South West.

In line with the Commission’s strategic 
priorities, we are able to report that we 
delivered a number of outcomes that 
will benefit the region now and in the 
years ahead.

A highlight of the year was seeing 
Collie, Manjimup and Margaret 
River transform into more desirable 
places to live through the Royalties 
for Regions-funded SuperTowns 
program. Major projects completed 
included Manjimup’s new $1.14million 
playground, while significant progress 
was made on upgrading Surfers Point 
in Margaret River and rejuvenating the 
Collie town centre.

Other major Royalties for Regions-
funded projects moved head, with the 
Augusta boat harbour and Bunbury 
Regional Entertainment Centre 

expansion taking shape. Smaller-scale 
projects such as the expansion of the 
Augusta Margaret River Library and 
establishment of the Collie Noongar 
Community Centre benefited our 
communities.

Also high on our list of 
accomplishments for the year was the 
sale of three blocks of land owned 
by the Commission. Importantly, we 
were able to direct the proceeds of the 
sales back into South West projects, 
including:

•	 $1.5million to fund the 
redevelopment of Withers in 
Bunbury;

•	 $1.395million towards the 
construction of pedestrian walkways 
and cycle ways in Busselton; and 

•	 $2.5million towards the first stage of 
Margaret River’s perimeter road.

We continued with our efforts 
to enhance port-linked road 
infrastructure, securing $1.5million 
in State Government funding to 
enable the Bunbury Port Authority to 
investigate options for the Bunbury 
Inner Harbour expansion and potential 
Preston River realignment.

Facilitating export opportunities for 
the South West’s producers remained 
a focus for us and as a result, a 
promotion of food and wine was 
held in Jakarta. This complemented 

a number of delegations comprising 

industry and government 

representatives which visited the 

region. And the first Emergence 

Creative Festival was held in Margaret 

River as part of efforts to grow the 

region’s creative sector.

In response to the outcomes of 

the Duncan review into Regional 

Development Commissions, SWDC 

received approval to restructure its 

operations in accordance with new 

priorities for delivery. The changes are 

designed to bring new skill sets into 

the Commission, particularly in relation 

to strategy and business development. 

Changes will take place from July 1 

2013. 

Linked to this new structure is the 

development of the South West Region 

Investment Blueprint, which will guide 

the future development of the region 

when it is completed in 2013/14.

2014 will mark 20 years since we 

ceased to be an Authority and 

became a Commission, and we are 

as well-placed as ever to support the 

sustainable development of the region.

Keeping pace with growth, generating 

jobs and ensuring the appropriate 

community and industry infrastructure 

is in place will remain challenges for us 

in the future.
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Governance 

About us

The South West Development 
Commission is a statutory authority of 
the West Australian government, with 
a board of management selected from 
the community and local governments, 
and by Ministerial appointment.

Our aim is to make the South West 
region an even better place to live, 
work and invest.

We do so by partnering with 
communities, government, business 
and industry to identify and support 
projects that benefit the region.

Developing the region’s economy and 
improving quality of life are key areas 
of focus.

Strategic direction
To help us achieve a region of 
excellence, we invest in:

•	 People and Place

•	 Infrastructure and Environment

•	 Knowledge, Enterprise and 
Innovation

These areas of investment are 
highlighted in the South West 
Development Commission’s Strategic 
Plan 2010-2025. The document guides 
the Commission towards realising 
its vision by listing outcomes to be 
achieved over a 15 year period.

Agency overview
The SWDC was created out of the 
former South West Development 
Authority by the Regional Development 
Commissions Act 1993. It is a 
statutory authority and body corporate 
reporting to the Minister for Regional 
Development.

Its purpose is to:
•	 Maximise job creation and improve 

career opportunities in the region;

•	 Develop and broaden the economic 
base of the region;

•	 Identify infrastructure services 
to promote economic and social 
development within the region;

•	 Provide information and advice to 
promote business development 
within the region;

•	 Seek to ensure the general standard 
of Government services and access 
to those Government services in the 
region is comparable to that which 
applies in the metropolitan area; and

•	 Generally take steps to encourage, 
promote, facilitate and monitor 
the economic development of the 
region.

In addition, the SWDC retains an 
ability to deal in land holdings acquired 
prior to the 1993 Act by the former 
Authority.

Our vision
By 2025 the South West of Western 
Australia is recognised internationally 
as a region of excellence.

Our mission
To develop the region’s economy and 
enhance those qualities which make 
the South West the best place in which 
to live, work and invest.

Our promise to you
We are leaders
We provide leadership to the region 
that is inspiring, motivating and 
relevant.

We are professional
We act at all times with honesty, 
integrity and fairness, recognising 
the importance of being open and 
accountable in our actions.

We embrace sustainable practice
We take a well-planned, considered 
approach to our projects to ensure 
the qualities and opportunities of the 
region are enhanced for both present 
and future generations.

We display excellent service
We aim to be global leaders in regional 
development, with valued and skilled 
personnel and a responsive attitude to 
people.
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Executive team

Executive	team
The Commission’s executive officers provide leadership to the Commission’s staff. 
With diverse backgrounds in regional development, members of the executive 
have experience across a number of fields including economics, industry, human 
services, policy and finance.

During the financial year, the Commission was transitioning to a new executive 
structure and as a result there is a difference between the executives listed below 
and those included in the organisational structure.

Governance 

Don Punch
Chief Executive Officer
MBA, Bachelor of Psychology, 
Bachelor of Social Work, Graduate of 
the Australian Company of Directors 

Don Punch has extensive experience 
working throughout regional Western 
Australia on many infrastructure 
projects and has special expertise in 
community and economic planning, 
trade facilitation, internet marketing 
and online education, and community 
relations. He was recently awarded 
honorary citizenship of the City of 
Jiaxing in Southern China for services 
to trade and economic development.

Graeme Baesjou 
Strategic Manager – Infrastructure 
and Enterprise
Graduate Diploma in Management 
Studies, Diploma of Administration 
Studies 

Graeme Baesjou has 15 years 
experience in regional development. 
He has been at the South West 
Development Commission for seven 
years and has an administration, 
planning and operations background 
with the military.

Anna Oades
Strategic Manager – People and 
Place
Bachelor of Arts, Graduate Diploma in 
Education, Teachers Certificate 

Anna Oades has wide-ranging 
experience in the WA public sector 
in diverse areas such as community 
development and funding, social policy 
and research, and social planning. She 
oversees the team at the Commission 
responsible for building quality of life in 
the region.

Patrick Warrand
Strategic Manager – Infrastructure
Bachelor of Engineering (Mining), 
Post Graduate Diploma and MBA 
(Technology Management), MAUSIMM 
and MAICD

Patrick is a mining engineer with 30 
years experience in industry. He spent 
more than seven years as general 
manager and company director at 
Premier Coal and nearly 20 years with 
BHP Billiton in senior management 
roles in Western Australia, Canada 
and Indonesia. He has a strong 
interest in infrastructure that enables 
development and has previously sat on 
a number of advisory and community 
boards in the South West. 

Vanessa Lewis 
Principal Policy Officer 
Bachelor of Economics 

Vanessa Lewis has more than 
30 years experience in regional 
development, particularly in the areas 
of research, regional planning and 
policy development. Vanessa holds 
a degree in economics and has 
specific responsibility for coordination 
of Royalties for Regions in the South 
West.

Susan Fitchat
Chief Finance Officer
Master of Commerce (Accounting), 
Member of the Institute of Public 
Accountants, Chartered Secretarial 
professional diploma

Susan Fitchat is responsible for the 
management of the Commission’s 
finance, human resource, information 
technology and administration 
services. Susan has wide-ranging 
experience working for attorneys as a 
business college graduate, thereafter 
private and not-for-profit organisations, 
a semi-government authority in South 
Africa, and local and State government 
in Australia. Her skills base includes 
financial management, accounting, 
information systems, administration, 
law and taxation.
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Commission structure
The South West Development 
Commission’s objectives and outcomes 
are developed through the relevant 
managers, with each manager reporting 
to the chief executive officer. 

The Commission also has a planning and 
policy arm which works to consolidate 
regional planning, ensuring consistency 
with government objectives. 

The executive group meets monthly to 
consider policy and planning matters, as 
well as review matters for the attention 
of the board. The executive team also 
oversees risk management. In the 
reporting year a comprehensive review 
of risk management was undertaken, 
leading to the creation of an updated risk 
register.

Executive OfficerCEO

Board

Minister

Manager Infrastructure and 
Enterprise

Manager People and Place

Chief Finance Officer

Customer Service

Grants Coordinator
Finance Officer
Grants Officer
Administration Officer

Regional Development 
Coordinators (3)

Urban Development 
Community Relations
Communications

Finance and Business Analyst
TradeStart
Tourism Development
Infrastructure and Technology
Workforce Development 
Research
Project Support

Principal Policy Officer

South West Development Commission 

2012	organisational	chart	
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Organisation structure

Governance 
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Our Board

Back L-R: Greg Duff, Wayne Sanford, Wade De Campo, Ian Stubbs, Brian Piesse, Ernie Kay
Front L-R: Louis Evans, Don Punch (CEO), Stuart Hicks AO (Chairman), Sue Daubney 

Primary activities
	• Setting the overall strategic 

direction and goals of the 
Commission

	• Providing guidance on specific 
projects and initiatives

	• Formulating Commission policy

	• Reviewing progress at regular 
intervals to ensure established 
goals are being achieved

	• Monitoring Commission expenditure

	• Promoting economic development

	• Representing the Commission at 
relevant meetings and functions

	• Providing a conduit between the 
Commission and the community

	• Facilitating cooperation between 
organisations in the region

Terms of appointment
Board members can be appointed for 
one, two or three year terms. They are 
eligible to apply for a further term and 
may serve for a maximum of six years.

Board remuneration is as follows:

a.	 Chairperson: $60,000 per annum

b.	 Deputy chairperson: $753 per 
meeting (full day) or $489 per 
meeting (half day), plus an 
additional $5000 per annum. 

c.	 Members: Board members are 
entitled to sitting fees of $593 per 
full day or $384 per half day

In addition to sitting fees, board 
members are also entitled to be 
reimbursed for travel (private vehicles 
only) and accommodation allowances, 
as per ATO rates.

Meetings
Meetings are held once a month, 
with most board members having 
the opportunity to attend 11 board 
meetings in 2012/13. 

During the year in review, board 
members Ernie Kay, Greg Duff and 
Wayne Sanford were appointed on 
September 3 2012 and therefore could 
only attend a maximum of nine of the 
11 meetings.

Attendance:

Stuart Hicks – 9/11
Ian Stubbs – 10/11
Greg Duff – 6/9
Wade De Campo – 10/11
Suzanne Daubney – 11/11
Ernie Kay – 8/9
Brian Piesse – 10/11
Louis Evans – 8/11
Wayne Sanford – 8/9
Don Punch – 11/11

The	South	West	
Development	Commission	
Board	is	the	governing	
body	responsible	to	the	
Regional	Development	
Minister	for	setting	the	
direction	and	priorities	of	
the	Commission.

It has 10 members selected from 
community and local government 
nominations, as well as Ministerial 
appointments. The Commission’s chief 
executive officer is also a member of 
the Board.

Governance 
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Stuart Hicks AO
Chairman
Stuart Hicks is a business policy 
and planning advisor and an adjunct 
professor at a number of West 
Australian universities.  He has 
previously been head of a range of 
West Australian government agencies, 
including Transperth, the Department 
of Transport, and Department of Marine 
and Harbours. Mr Hicks was formerly 
a commissioner of the WA Planning 
Commission, chairman of the National 
Transport Commission and chairman of 
the East Perth Redevelopment Authority. 
In 2006 he was made an Officer of 
the Order of Australia for services to 
the road transport industry, the public 
sector, and the community.

Ian Stubbs
Deputy Chairman
Ian Stubbs has more than four decades 
of experience in local government. He 
has been the chief executive officer of 
the shires of Dandaragan, Wyndham-
East Kimberley, Busselton and Toodyay 
and has worked as a consultant to local 
government. He is currently the Mayor 
of the City of Busselton. Mr Stubbs is a 
board member of Regional Development 
Australia – South West.

Don Punch 
Chief Executive Officer
Don Punch is the chief executive 
officer of the South West Development 
Commission and is responsible for 
the coordinated economic and social 
development of the South West 
region. He has worked throughout 
regional Western Australia on many 
infrastructure projects and has special 
expertise in community and economic 
planning, trade facilitation, internet 
marketing and online education, and 
community relations. He holds a 
Masters of Business Administration and 
primary qualifications in psychology and 
community planning and is a Graduate 
of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. Mr Punch was recently 
awarded honorary citizenship of the City 
of Jiaxing in China for services to trade 
and economic development.

Brian Piesse
Brian Piesse lives in Argyle and 
operates businesses in Busselton 
and Margaret River. A former Shire 
of Capel councillor, Mr Piesse is a 
member of the Rotary Club of Bunbury, 
the Bunbury Wellington Economic 
Alliance, a member of the Edith Cowan 
University (South West) Advisory 
Board, a member of the CY O'Connor 
Institute Agribusiness Industry Advisory 
Committee, a member of the Kings Park 
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 
Board of Management, a fellow of the 
Australian Institute of Management 
and a fellow of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors. He has 
backgrounds in strategic planning, 
executive management, business and 
market development, and education 
governance. He held senior executive 
roles in several major international 
chemical and fertiliser companies before 
returning to Western Australia in 1997. 
He is a former board member of the 
CRC for Soil and Land Management.

Ernie Kay
Busselton resident Ernie Kay brings 
a wealth of experience to the SWDC 
board gained in senior executive and 
directorship roles in major international 
companies. These roles have spanned 
Asia and Europe and give him a unique 
perspective on how the South West can 
extend its presence and influence in an 
area that is vital to our future growth. 
Mr Kay currently works in management 
consulting and has also been involved 
with sporting organisations advising 
on marketing and sponsorship 
opportunities.

Louis Evans
Louis Evans is the chief executive 
officer of the Ngalang Boodja Council 
Aboriginal Corporation in Collie and 
public officer for Ngalang Boodja 
Enterprises Pty Ltd. Her previous roles 
have seen her take on the position 
of executive director of the Centre of 
Excellence for Sustainable Mine Lakes, 
a State Government research centre 
involving four WA universities, director 
of the Centre for Natural Resource 
Enterprise and professor of Aquatic 
Science at Curtin University.

Greg Duff
Greg Duff lives in Bunbury and works as 
the mill manager for Wespine Industries, 
the largest structural softwood sawmill 
in Western Australia. He is further 
involved in the industry as a member 
of the Solid Wood Processing Advisory 
Group for Forest and Wood Products 
Australia. He is also the current 
secretary for the Leschenault Timber 
Industry Club.

Sue Daubney
Sue Daubney is the managing director 
of Bannister Downs Dairy Company. 
Having been awarded the WA Telstra 
Business Women's Innovation Award in 
2006, Sue was further honoured to be 
announced the First Amongst Equals at 
the WA Business News 40under40 for 
2010. Sue has been a director of the 
Food Industry Association Board (WA) 
and a member of the Small Business 
Finance Panel (Reserve Bank of 
Australia), while she currently chairs the 
Food Industry Advisory Group (CCIWA) 
and is on the General Council of the 
Chamber of Commerce (Perth). Mrs 
Daubney lives in Northcliffe.

Wade De Campo
Wade De Campo is the president of 
the Shire of Manjimup. He has held 
numerous positions over the years, 
including with the Warren-Blackwood 
Economic Alliance, Pemberton Chamber 
of Commerce, Rotary Club of Manjimup 
and Manjimup Cherry Harmony Festival. 
He is currently commissioner at the 

Conservation Commission of Western 
Australia. 

Wayne Sanford
Wayne Sanford is Collie Shire 
president, a position he has held since 
2007. A Collie Shire councillor since 
2001, he sits on a number of Shire 
committees, contributing to areas such 
as local emergency management.  
He has chaired the Regional Centres 
Community Reference Group, ensuring 
community involvement in Collie's 
transformation in to a SuperTown. 
Mr Sanford is a Bunbury Wellington 
Economic Alliance board member.

Governance 
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Our Minister

About the Minister
The Hon. Brendon Grylls was elected 
to State Parliament when he won a 
by-election for the seat of Merredin in 
2001 and became the leader of the 
Nationals WA in July 2005. Following 
the 2008 election he led the party 
into a power sharing alliance with the 
Liberals.

In the lead-up to the September 2008 
election, Mr Grylls and The Nationals 
WA campaigned on the Royalties for 
Regions plan. 

Our responsibility
The South West Development 
Commission is responsible to the 
Minister for Regional Development, the 
Hon. Brendon Grylls.

The Minister has the power to direct 
the Commission, either generally or 
with respect to a particular matter, on 
the exercise and performance of its 
power, functions and duties. 

Our role
The South West Development 
Commission was enacted in April 
1994 under the Regional Development 
Commissions Act 1993, and is one 
of nine uniformly legislated agencies, 
each serving a different region of 
Western Australia.

Prior to 1994, the South West 
Development Commission 
was known as the South West 

Development Authority. The Authority 
was established by its own act of 
parliament in 1984 to plan, coordinate 
and promote the economic and social 
development of the South West region 
of Western Australia.

Meeting the Government's 
goals
The State Government has identified 
the following policy objectives for 
Regional Development: 

	• Building capacity in regional 
communities 

	• Retaining benefits in regional 
communities 

	• Improving services to regional 
communities 

	• Attaining sustainability; and 

	• Growing prosperity

The objectives of the Commission are 
set out in the Regional Development 
Commissions Act 1993. These are: 

	• Maximise job creation and improve 
career opportunities in the region 

	• Develop and broaden the economic 
base of the region 

	• Identify infrastructure services 
to promote economic and social 
development within the region 

	• Seek to ensure that the general 
standard of government services 
and access to those services in the 

region is comparable to that which 
applies in the metropolitan area; and 

	• Generally take steps to encourage, 
promote, facilitate and monitor the 
economic development in the region

The Commission’s strategic plan 
captures our legislative requirements 
and Government policy objectives 
through each of our three priority 
themes: 

	• People and Place, 

	• Infrastructure and Environment; and 

	• Knowledge, Enterprise and 
Innovation 

The strategic plan places each 
objective into a 15 year planning 
horizon. 

The Commission reviews the strategic 
plan annually and implements both 
legislative and Government policy 
objectives through an annual business 
plan. 

Monthly reports on progress are 
provided to the board and an annual 
summary of achievements together 
with the outcomes of stakeholder 
surveys to assess effectiveness is 
presented to the board annually.

HON. BRENDON GRYLLS MLA
MINISTER FOR REGIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT

Governance 
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Our region

Harvey Shire

Collie Shire

Capel
Shire

Boyup Brook Shire

Dardanup
Shire

City of Busselton

Nannup
Shire

Manjimup Shire

Donnybrook
Balingup Shire

Bridgetown-   
Greenbushes Shire

Augusta-Margaret 
River Shire

• Harvey

• Collie
• Eaton

• Donnybrook
• Capel

• Bridgetown

• Boyup Brook

• Manjimup

• Margaret River  Nannup •

• Busselton

City of
Bunbury •

Warren Blackwood 
SUB-REGIONS 

Bunbury Wellington 
Vasse 

Watch our video about 
the South West

www.swdc.wa.gov.au

The	South	West	is	well-known	
for	its	natural	beauty,	but	
is	also	a	regional	economic	
powerhouse.	No	wonder	it	is	
such	a	popular	place	to	live.

Location
Situated in the picturesque south-west 
corner of Australia, the region boasts 
extensive natural beauty and enviable 
climate. It covers an area of 23,970 
square kilometres and has a typically 
Mediterranean climate.

It is bordered by the Indian and 
Southern oceans, and the northern 
gateway to the region is only about an 
hour from Perth by road.

The port city of Bunbury is the South 
West’s regional hub, while many 
smaller towns offer attractive lifestyles 
throughout the region’s 12 local 
government areas.

Our challenge
	• Improve urban centres while 

retaining the qualities of the towns 
that make them attractive to 
residents, visitors and investors.

	• Protect the region’s natural 
environment and biodiversity.

	• Transform Bunbury into the State’s 
second city.

Fast-growing population
The South West of Western Australia 
is a fast-growing region, with an 
increasing number of people choosing 
to call it home each year.

Over the past five years the South 
West’s average annual growth rate 
was 2.3 per cent.

Currently more than 163,000 people 
are residents of the South West. By 
2026 it is anticipated about 230,000 
people will reside in the region

Significantly, the number of people in 
the South West aged 55 years and 
above is expected to grow from 27 per 
cent in 2011 to 32 per cent in 2026.

Our challenge
	• Improve quality of life for the 

region’s growing population 
through the provision of community 
infrastructure and services.

	• Plan for the region’s ageing 
population.

	• Ensure adequate facilities and 
services for children and young 
families.

Regional economic 
powerhouse 
The South West has the most diverse 
economy in regional Western Australia. 
Its thriving economy generated an 
estimated $15 billion during 2011/12.

Mining is one of the largest industry 
sectors in the region, with latest 
estimates showing mining and 
minerals processing to be valued at 
about $2.1 billion per annum.

Our challenge 
	• Ensure the provision of 

infrastructure necessary to cope 
with planned industry expansions, 
especially export trade. 

	• Address skills shortages. 

	• Facilitate trade and investment.

About the South West 

http://www.swdc.wa.gov.au
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About the South West 

A look back at the issues and trends that 
defined the region in 2012/13

	• The South West continues to be Western Australia’s major 
growth region. 

	• Infrastructure provision and biodiversity issues continue to be 
major challenges. 

	• Some industry sectors continue to experience skills 
shortages. 

	• Enhancing career diversity, job and educational opportunities 
in the region continue to be important. 

	• Children aged 0 to 14 years make up 21.3 per cent of the 
South West population, compared to the State average of 
19.7 per cent. 

	• Over 65s make up 13.8 per cent of the population, compared 
to the WA average of 12.3 per cent. 

	• The number of people in the region aged 55 years and above 
is expected to grow from 24 per cent in 2006 to 35 per cent 
in 2031. 

	• The South West’s unemployment rate stood at 6.5 per cent, 
according to figures released for the March 2013 quarter.

ISSUES & TRENDS

Population Growth Rates – Australia and South West Region, 
2006-2011

Source:  2006 and 2011 Census, Australian Bureau of 
Statistics.
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South West Gross Regional Product, 2007-2012

Source: Department of Regional Development and Lands 
(estimated from ABS catalogue 5220.0 Australian National 
Accounts - State Accounts)

2012/13
Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing 3.6%
Mining 31.6%
Manufacturing 7.5%
Electricity, Gas and Water Supply 3.6%
Construction 16.4%
Wholesale Trade 2.2%
Retail Trade 3.8%
Accommodation, Cafes and Restaurants 1.6%
Transport and Storage 4.0%
Communication Services 1.0%
Finance and Insurance 2.3%
Rental, Hiring and Real Estate Services 1.4%
Professional, Scientific and Technical Services 3.1%
Administrative and Support Services 1.9%
Government Administration and Defence 2.1%
Education 2.8%
Health and Community Services 3.9%
Cultural and Recreational Services 0.3%
Personal and Other Services 7.0%
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Strategic priorities 

Royalties for Regions – SuperTowns

Highlights

	The SuperTown growth plans for Collie, Manjimup 
and Margaret River are officially endorsed by the 
West Australian Planning Commission

	Work is carried out to restore the Collie River as 
part of plans to breathe new life into the town 
centre

	Collie attracts private investment towards an early 
education centre

	Manjimup’s Southern Forests Food Council is 
established to build the region’s agricultural industry 
and promote the district as a culinary tourism 
destination

	A playground is built at the Manjimup Timber and 
Heritage Park, making the town more family-friendly

	Upgrades are underway at the tourism and surfing 
hotspot of Surfers Point

	Funding is secured to progress a perimeter road for 

Margaret River

	Community projects which have received Royalties 
for Regions funding can be seen to be taking shape

Our challenge

	Lay the foundations for sustainable population 
expansion and economic growth in the region’s 
SuperTowns

	Identify and support projects and services that 
attract investment, increase or improve quality of 
life

The plan to revitalise the Collie River reached another milestone when riffles were 
installed downstream from Soldiers Park. Pictured are Donna Davies and Gayle Gray 
with Wayne Sanford and Keith Williams.

Alan Cross and Marcus Turner from the South West Development 
Commission receive an update about the Surfers Point project 
from the Shire of Augusta Margaret River’s Wayne Prangnell.
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At the Commission, we work to make 
our region an even better place to live, 
work and invest.

So we are proud to be involved in 
the State Government’s Royalties for 
Regions-funded SuperTowns program, 
which aims to make nine towns in 
the southern half of Western Australia 
more appealing places to live – now 
and in the future.

Since the Regional Centres 
Development Plan was announced by 
the State Government in 2011 as a 
way to encourage the decentralisation 
of Western Australia’s population, 
we are pleased to report work has 
progressed from the planning to 
implementation stages.

Laying the foundations for 
transformation
In late 2012, the completed 
SuperTowns growth plans were 
officially released, marking a major 
milestone in the journey towards 

Collie, Manjimup 
and Margaret 
River becoming 
SuperTowns.

Developed in 
consultation with 
local and surrounding 
communities, the 

growth plans set out visions for social, 
economic and spatial growth in each 
town, highlighting projects which 
would benefit from State, Federal and 
private sector investment.

In the year in review, the West 
Australian Planning Commission-
endorsed growth plans were used to 
guide the SuperTowns into thriving 
regional hubs, capable of stimulating 
economic and population expansion. 

Putting plans into action
In 2012/13, the three South West 
SuperTowns of Collie, Manjimup 
and Margaret River could be seen 
to be undergoing the beginnings of 
a transformation, which was helped 
along with $29.05million in Royalties 
for Regions funding for projects. 

Collie
In Collie, work was underway to give a 
new lease of life to the town centre and 
undertake environmental improvements 
to the Collie River, with a number of 
associated projects making headway. 

In recognition of the importance of 
Collie’s natural assets in supporting 
tourism and providing desirable areas 
for residents to socialise and play, 
efforts were made to revitalise the 
Collie River. Riffles were installed in 
the waterway, foreign tree species 
removed from the foreshore, 
revegetation carried out along the river 
banks and Nardoo weed removed.

To accommodate the growth of Collie 
as a services hub and create a vibrant 
town centre with amenities that would 
cater for a growing population, work 
commenced on projects tied to Collie’s 
central business district. For instance, 

SWDC board member Wade De Campo and Shire of Manjimup director of works 
Doug Elkins test out the new fun park.

Strategic priorities 

The Manjimup town centre was given a 

facelift during the year in review, with works 

carried out to establish the Manjimup 

Timber and Heritage Park as the new 

northern entrance to the town. As part 

of this, a new $1.14million playground 

located within the heritage park was 

completed and is expected to make the 

town a more attractive place for families to 

live.  The fairytale-inspired fun park is one 

of a number of initiatives helping Manjimup 

lay the foundations for population and 

economic growth as part of the Regional 

Centres Development Plan – a Royalties 

for Regions-funded program to transform 

selected towns into SuperTowns.
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Strategic priorities 

detailed concepts were completed for 
the planned central park, skate park 
and art gallery. Excitingly, not only were 
detailed concepts developed for the 
early education centre, but the venture 
attracted private investment, with BHP 
Billiton confirming funding of $215,000 
over three years to assist in making the 
project a reality. 

A key objective of the CBD 
revitalisation is to connect both 
sides of the railway line visually and 
functionally. In the reporting year, 

particular attention was given to 
views across the railway line and new 
pedestrian crossings were designed. 
The recently completed redevelopment 
of the historic pedestrian bridge has 
contributed to the amenity of the 
town as well as provided a safe and 
interesting connection.

Manjimup
In 2012/13, Manjimup moved closer 
to realising its vision of expanding the 
local agricultural industry, establishing 
itself as a culinary food destination and 
becoming a more desirable place to 
live.

The Southern Forests Food Council 
was formed in September 2012 
to grow the region's $126million 
agricultural sector and also promote 

the area as a culinary food destination. 
During the reporting year, the group 
commissioned a branding strategy 
for the Southern Forests region, 
taking in the towns of Manjimup, 
Pemberton, Walpole and Northcliffe. 
It also supported community events 
such as the Truffle Kerfuffle and set 
in motion plans to open a shop front 
in Manjimup's town centre to provide 
a place to promote produce from the 
Southern Forests.

The Manjimup Timber and Heritage 
Park took strides towards becoming 
a multi-purpose attraction and the 
new northern entrance place to the 
town, thanks to two projects within the 
park. The new $1.14million fun park, 
which was funded with $1million from 
Royalties for Regions and $140,000 
from Lotterywest, created a buzz of 
excitement through the community as 
it neared completion and locals could 
observe play equipment such as a 
climbing net, 40metre flying fox, slides 
and rides being installed.

Also within the Manjimup Timber and 
Heritage Park, a new building was 
constructed to provide the Manjimup 
Historical Society with a new home. 
The new venue for the historical 
society includes a fire-proof room 
which will provide a dedicated space in 
which to store historical items.

Efforts to give Manjimup’s town centre 
a more appealing look will continue 
next financial year, with the installation 
of underground power set to begin in 
early in 2013/14.

Margaret River
Margaret River progressed plans 
to boost its appeal to visitors and 
residents by investing in projects which 
will heighten its reputation as a tourist 
drawcard and highly attractive place 
to live.

During the year in review, work 
commenced on upgrading the facilities 
at Surfers Point. The break attracts 
thousands of surfers each year and is 
home to Western Australia’s biggest 
surfing contest, the Drug Aware 
Margaret River Pro. The improvements, 
which include new stairs and 
boardwalks as well as toilet and 
change room facilities, will preserve the 
natural environment of Surfers Point 
while allowing the tourism potential 
of the surfing spot to be maximised, 
especially through events such as the 
Pro which will feature the world’s top 
male and female surfers on the ASP 
World Tour from 2014.

In 2012/13, the town was also on its 
way to receiving a makeover befitting 
its status as a premium international 
tourist destination. Detailed designs 
for the first stage of the Margaret River 
town centre redevelopment, between 
the river and high school, were 
completed. The project is expected to 
improve connectivity in the town centre 
and enhance the town’s northern entry.

As a key part of revamping the appeal 
of the town lies in rerouting the trucks 
away from the main street, it was a 
boon when the State Government 
committed $13million towards the first 
stage of construction of the perimeter 
road, which will divert heavy haulage 

ROYALTIES FOR REGIONS 



SWDC Annual Report 2013 19

vehicles away from the town centre. 
In the reporting year, the design and 
public consultation process for the 
perimeter road were undertaken.

Supporting our communities

SuperTowns was not the only way 
communities in the South West 
benefited from Royalties for Regions 
funding. 

Since 2009, Royalties for Regions 
funding has been flowing to South 
West communities, providing support 
to help get community projects off the 
ground.

In 2012/13, a raft of projects which 
had received Royalties for Regions 
funding were either completed or 
underway during the year in review. 

For instance, we witnessed extensions 

to the Bunbury Regional Entertainment 
Centre going ahead, while the Augusta 
boat harbour could be seen to be 
taking shape.

Examples of Royalties for Regions-

funded projects which have been 
progressed can be found throughout 
the report. 

Pictured above are the plans for 
Collie’s new skate park.

funding	breakdown
SUPERTOWNS

$11m
To revitalise the Collie town centre and undertake environmental 
improvements to the Collie River

$6.95m
For Manjimup to create a food council and investigate new 
agricultural industry development and training

$5.7m
To revitalise Manjimup’s town centre and transform the Manjimup 
Timber and Heritage Park into a multipurpose attraction

$3.46m
To redevelop Surfers Point in Margaret River

$1.94m 
Towards exploring opportunities for upgrading the Margaret River 
town centre and diverting heavy haulage vehicles

Southern Forests Food Council board member Nicole Giblett and project 
coordinator Laura Bolitho showcase produce from the region.

Strategic priorities 
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Strategic priorities 

People & Place

Highlights

	Urban renewal projects enhance areas of 
Busselton, Dunsborough and Pemberton 

	New services to improve health and wellbeing are 
launched

	Community services are boosted in the region’s 
towns

	Safety for cyclists and pedestrians in Busselton is 
improved

	Efforts to create more age-friendly communities pay 
off

	South West Academy of Sport athletes compete on 
the world stage

Our challenge

	Improve quality of life for the region’s growing 
population through the provision of community 
infrastructure and services

	Plan for the region’s ageing population

	Ensure adequate facilities and services are available 
for children and young families

	Improve urban centres while retaining the qualities 
that make them attractive to residents, visitors and 
investors

Don Punch, Gayle Gray, Norm Hayward and Colin Holt at the 
opening of the Collie Noongar Community Centre. 

Marj Evans shows Terry Thompson, Alan Cross and Joe La 
Mancusa costumes for an upcoming production outside the 
newly-upgraded Weld Theatre in Busselton.
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Every year, we look for ways we can 
improve quality of life for people living 
in the region.

The 2012/13 financial year was no 
exception, with our team involved in 
a number of projects which aimed 
to enhance the wellbeing of local 
residents.

And we are pleased to report that 
many of the initiatives we supported 
reached milestones during the year in 
review.

Age-friendly communities 
In our efforts to create more age-
friendly communities, we had a hand 
in a number of projects which were 
intended to benefit youths and senior 
citizens.

Two of the projects we supported were 
designed to provide young people with 
disabilities with similar opportunities 
as their more able-bodies peers, while 
aiming to increase their overall life 
satisfaction.

The first of these 
projects was the new 
accessible playground 
in Bunbury, which 
was able to open 

in August with the aid of a $30,000 
grant through the South West Regional 
Grants Scheme component of 
Royalties for Regions. The park has 
allowed children in wheelchairs to join 
in the fun of the playground for the 
first time in the region, successfully 
promoting social interaction between 
youngsters of all abilities.

The second of these projects was the 
Bunbury Future Possibilities Youth 
Conference, which helped teenagers 
with disabilities to prepare for life 
after school. Held in August, the 
event provided students in Year 10, 
11 and 12 with tips for succeeding in 
the workforce and gave participants 
the opportunity to explore training, 
education and employment pathways.

Also in support of the positive 
development of young people was 
our partnership with the Mental Health 
Commission and Investment in Our 
Youth, which resulted in the creation 

of a regional youth development 

officer position in 2011/12. The 

officer was appointed this year and 

has worked to reduce the stigma 

sometimes associated with mental 

health issues and raise awareness 

of support services. As a result, the 

Positive Tickets program, which sets 

out to reward positive behaviour, was 

introduced in the region.

Meanwhile, the South West Academy 

of Sport’s talent development 

programs continued to provide 

teenagers in the region with 

opportunities to reach their potential.  

With our support, academy athletes 

excelled in 2012/13. Surfer Jacob 

Willcox was crowned world under-16 

champion, while two original 

scholarship holders, BMX rider Lauren 

Reynolds and rower Alex Hagan, 

represented Australia at the London 

Olympics.

Like young people, senior citizens also 

gained from our investment in people 

and place, with work carried out to 

ensure the needs of older people were 

taken into account.

PEOPLE & PLACE 

The recently-completed expansion and 

refurbishment of the Augusta Margaret 

River Regional Library led to the facility 

being used more and more as a community 

hub during the year in review. In particular, 

the Royalties for Regions-funded outdoor 

area of the library, which is connected 

to wifi, was popular as a meeting area 

for community groups, and individuals 

including tourists wanting to Skype home. 

So well-liked was the new addition to the 

library, it was reportedly difficult to find a 

spare seat outside during the warmer 

months.

Library services manager Heather Auld and SWDC regional coordinator Alan 
Cross at the new-look Augusta Margaret River Regional Library.

Strategic priorities 
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In recognition of the importance of 
having accommodation options that 
allow people to continue living close 
to family and friends in the places they 
call home as they age, we supported 
affordable housing options for over 55s 
in the region.

The building of the Geegeelup 
Village development in Bridgetown 
commenced, with construction of six 
of 15 planned units underway in 2013. 
Though the building of the independent 
living units had only just begun in May, 
leases on four of the two-bedroom 
units had already been signed.

In Capel, Access Housing completed 
the construction of 17 two-bedroom 
villas in June with the aid of 
$1.95million in Royalties for Regions 
funding. An official opening was 
planned for August 2013.

And in Walpole, the completion of the 
Jarrah Glen Lifestyle Village in June 
provided the town with its first housing 
option for over 65s. The village, which 

features five two-bedroom units and a 
community centre, is set for an official 
opening in October 2013.

Resilient communities
Giving people access to a wide-range 
of services and facilities in the places 
they live helps to build communities 
that are stronger, happier and healthier 
– and ultimately, more liveable.

In 2012/13, a number of new or 
improved services presented South 
West residents with opportunities to 
enjoy a higher quality of life.

For starters, Aboriginal people in Collie 
had access to a dedicated health and 
community centre for the first time 
when the Collie Noongar Community 
Centre opened its doors in December. 
Comprising medical consulting 
rooms, meeting areas and activity 
spaces, the facility is used not only by 
health service providers, but also by 
community groups.

Also set to improve the wellbeing 
of residents was the new coronary 

care unit at St John of God Bunbury 
Hospital, which was officially opened in 
January. The first of its kind in regional 
Western Australia, the $10million, 
eight-bed-facility was planned to 
enable both public and private patients 
to receive specialist cardiac care 
closer to home, with family and friends 
nearby.  

The $10million project was made 
possible with the aid of $5million from 
Royalties for Regions.

We are delighted to report that new 
community facilities in a number of 
towns are providing locals with more 
positive experiences. For instance, 
the expanded and upgraded Augusta 
Margaret River Library, which boasts 
an outdoor reading area, is being 
used more and more as a community 
hub. And the partly heritage-listed 
Weld Theatre in Busselton is now an 
even better place to enjoy a night out 
watching a community play, thanks to 
a new foyer, toilets and access ramp.

In addition, safety for cyclists and 
pedestrians in Busselton was 
enhanced in 2012/13, thanks to 
upgrades carried out to road and 
pathway networks in the popular 
tourist destination. The works, which 
began in early 2013, have resulted 
in a number of improvements 
including near schools and aged 
accommodation.

On a related subject, all four local 
government authorities in Greater 
Bunbury – the City of Bunbury and 
the shires of Dardanup, Capel and 
Harvey – adopted the Greater Bunbury 
Bicycle Master Plan. The plan was 
created to guide the creation of a 
safe and effective bike pathway to link 
the growing urban areas of Greater 
Bunbury.

South West Development Commission chairman Stuart Hicks and chief 
executive officer Don Punch at the new coronary care unit in Bunbury.

Strategic priorities 

PEOPLE & PLACE
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Urban renewal
By building on the strengths of cities 
and towns, we can breathe new 
life into streets, suburbs and whole 
communities, making them more 
attractive to residents, visitors and 
investors.

In the year in review, renewal projects 
created more attractive spaces 
in South West towns, resulting in 
improved amenity for locals and more 
inspiring places for tourists to visit.

In Dunsborough, works resulted in 
improved pedestrian links between 
the town’s central business district 
and newly-revitalised foreshore, 
allowing people to walk between the 
two areas with ease. Enhancements 
also included the completion of 
Seymour Park with new children’s play 
equipment, as well as landscaping and 
barbecue and picnic facilities on the 
foreshore.

In Busselton, the city’s popular 
foreshore is now even more of a 
drawcard for locals and tourists alike, 
thanks to a series of improvements 
that have been carried out. New play 
equipment, landscaping, barbecue 
facilities and a swim jetty have added 
to the appeal of the waterfront and 
complemented the reburbishment of 
the Busselton Jetty. 

In Pemberton, the main street of the 
town was showing the results of an 
enhancement project. In addition to 
the original Royalties for Regions grant 
of $220,000 allocated in 2009 to carry 
out the works, in 2012/13 we provided 
an additional $27,000 to enable the 
Shire of Manjimup to place the final 
panels of an art wall, which lights up 
at night.

And our partnership with the City of 
Bunbury to rejuvenate the suburb of 
Withers moved forward. The renewal 

strategy was finalised, laying the 
foundations for positive change in 
the years ahead. To help the project 
along, we secured $1.5million for initial 
revitalisation works, and seconded an 
employee from the Commission to the 
City of Bunbury to begin overseeing 
the implementation of the strategy.

Ian Stubbs and Don Punch at the 
Dunsborough Foreshore.

The new Bunbury accessible playground is officially opened in August.

Strategic priorities 
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In the past, moving into a retirement 
village meant leaving town for Walpole 
residents because of the lack of 
specialised accommodation for senior 
citizens.

Not only did older people have to 
contend with moving out of their home 
and into a retirement development, but 
they also had the additional challenge 
of moving to a new town – away from 
their support network of family and 
friends.

Now though, over 65s wanting to 
shift into accommodation suitable for 
seniors have the option of living at the 
new Jarrah Glen Lifestyle Village.

And we are pleased to report that we 

had a hand in helping the Walpole 
and Districts Seniors Accommodation 
committee make the Village a reality for 
the local community.

Having heard that the lack of housing 
for seniors in Walpole was not only 
forcing people to leave town, but also 
deterring people from moving there in 
the first place, we stepped up to help 
solve the problem.

As part of our efforts to improve quality 
of life in the region and build on the 
recommendations contained in our 
South West Active Ageing Strategy, 
we developed the business case for 
funding required for the project.

Royalties for Regions money, including 

$125,000 through our 2008/09 South 
West Regional Grants Scheme, was 
secured for the first stage of the 
development.

As well as attracting funding, we 
also helped the committee secure 
incorporation status, develop concept 
plans and attract headworks funding.

The result: five two-bedroom units 
and a community centre completed in 
June, ready for the first occupants to 
move into.

Jarrah	Glen	Lifestyle	Village

PROJECTS IN FOCUS

Walpole and Districts Seniors Accommodation group president Rod Burton 
showcases the new Jarrah Glen Lifestyle Village, which is available to over 65s.

Strategic priorities 
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Over the years, Busselton has become 
an increasingly popular place to live, 
with the city’s population growing by 
4.2 per cent in 2011/12 to 32,518 
people.

And though this growth has been 
welcome, in 2012/13 it was also 
apparent that the city was experiencing 
growing pains which became more 
obvious during holiday periods when 
tourists descended on the city.

Strain was being placed on local road 
and pathway networks as pedestrians, 
cyclists and vehicles competed for 
space on busy roads.

To help solve the problem and improve 
safety for cyclists and pedestrians, 
including in areas around schools 
and aged care accommodation, we 
provided the City of Busselton with 
$1.395million to carry out upgrades to 
road and pathway networks.

We are pleased to report that by the 
end of the financial year, most of the 
works had been completed, resulting 
in safer routes that better connect 
schools, age care accommodation, 
leisure centres and residential areas.

The completed works have resulted in:

	• A pedestrian island, pathway and 
improved lighting at the Peel Terrace 
crossing near the Busselton Holiday 
Village;

	• A new bus embayment on Peel 
Terrace providing better access for 
coaches and improved disabled 
access; 

	• A pedestrian crossing island and 
pathways on Fairway Drive to 
improve safety for school children in 
the area; 

	• A pedestrian crossing at Ray Village; 

	• Improved disability access along 
the Bussell Highway between Gale 
Street and West Street; 

	• A new pathway between Grace 
Court and Recreation Lane allowing 
safer access to the Geographe 
Leisure Centre;  and

	• A new footpath along Bussell 
Highway from Broadwater 
Boulevard to Hadfield Avenue to 
allow easier access to medical 
facilities; from McIntyre Street to 
Little Colin Street to provide easier 
access to shopping facilities; and 
from Breeden Street to Earnshaw 
Road. 

The connection of the Vasse, Abbey 
and Broadwater communities through 
a series of bridge and footpath 

upgrades was on its way to being 
completed.

The project may not have been 
particularly glamorous or high-profile, 
but we are proud to have been able 
to help improve safety for residents 
and visitors by funding the community 
infrastructure needed to enable the city 
to keep pace with growth.

Improving	safety	for	cyclists	and	pedestrians	in	Busselton

PROJECTS IN FOCUS

Alan Cross from the South West Development Commission and Oliver Darby from the City of 
Busselton walk the new pathway that runs along the Bussell Highway, near Little Colin Street.

Did you know?
Busselton is expected to 
grow to 41,200 people 
by 2016, 48,200 by 2021 
and 55,300 by 2026.

Strategic priorities 
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Strategic priorities 

Infrastructure & Environment

Highlights

	The second stage of the Bunbury Port Access 
Road, which includes the central stage of the 
Bunbury Outer Ring Road, opens

	Funding is secured towards Margaret River’s 
perimeter road

	Funding is announced for investigating options for 
the potential realignment of the Preston River

	Construction of the Augusta boat harbour reaches 
a milestone

	The Munda Biddi cycling trail is completed and now 
stretches from Mundaring to Albany

	A grant enables volunteers to rehabilitate coastal 
areas of Margaret River destroyed by fire

	Two artificial reefs are built in the South West, off 
Bunbury and Dunsborough

Our challenge

	Ensure the provision of infrastructure necessary to 
support the sustainable growth of the region

	Protect the region’s natural environment and 
biodiversity

State Government funding will assist the Bunbury Port Authority to plan for 
the potential realignment of the Preston River with the view to expanding 
the Bunbury Inner Harbour.

Munda Biddi Epic 1000 ride leader and Munda Biddi Trail 
Foundation chairman Ron Colman leads the riders over the line 
at the end of the Epic.
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At the Commission, we know the 
South West’s best assets are its 
environment and the infrastructure that 
supports our regional economy and 
lifestyles.

We also know the future prosperity 
and wellbeing of the region is reliant on 
striking a balance between both.

And because of this, we work to 
ensure the region has infrastructure 
that meets growing community and 
industry needs, and at the same 
time, a natural environment that is 
recognised and protected for its 
biodiversity.

During the year in review, our 
investment in infrastructure and 
environment resulted in a number of 
positive outcomes for the South West.

Meeting the region’s 
infrastructure needs
Infrastructure projects 
can take years, 
decades even, to 
become reality. So 
you can imagine 

how pleased we are to report that 
a transport infrastructure project 
linked to the South West’s continued 
prosperity and improving safety on the 
roads made substantial progress in 
2012/13.

The second stage of the Bunbury Port 
Access Project, which included the 
first stage of the Bunbury Outer Ring 
Road, opened to traffic on May 31. 
The completion of the second stage 
of the project has resulted in improved 
access to the Bunbury Port and Picton 
industrial area from the South Western 
Highway and has reduced the number 
of larger vehicles on Robertson Drive 
and Eelup Roundabout. 

Another two major infrastructure 
projects also reached milestones in 
the reporting year when funding was 
secured to enable them to advance. 

The first of these was the Margaret 
River perimeter road, which was 
allocated $13million – including 
$2.5million from the Commission – in 
State Government funding towards 
the 1.8kilometre southern section of 
the road, from Bussell Highway to 
just south of Rosa Brook Road. Once 
complete, the project will provide an 
alternative route for the large vehicles 
which currently travel through the 
Margaret River town centre, leading to 
improved safety for pedestrians and 
local traffic.

And we were able to secure $1.5million 
in Royalties for Regions funding 
towards investigating options for the 
potential Preston River realignment. 
Changing the pathway of the river 
would enable the port to expand on 
land that is currently dissected by the 
river, enabling it to grow from seven 
to 15 berths. Like the Bunbury Outer 
Ring Road, this project is considered 
essential to meeting industry needs 
and stimulating the region’s economic 
growth for years to come.

Planning work continued on Lake 

INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENT

In 2012/13, the Royalties for Regions-

funded Augusta boat harbour reached a 

major milestone when both the 150 metre 

northern breakwater and the 600 metre 

southern breakwater were constructed 

to a minimum level. With the footprint 

of the breakwaters visible, the harbour 

could clearly be seen to be taking shape. 

Once complete, the harbour will provide 

safer access to the ocean and mooring 

for recreational and commercial boats. 

Encouragingly, an underwater inspection 

by a marine biologist observed the 

early establishment of abalone and fish 

populations.

Augusta boat harbour

Strategic priorities 
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Kepwari, a project to transform a 
flooded former Collie coal mine into 
a recreational lake that can be used 
by the public. While we had hoped 
the lake would have been open to the 
public by now, its completion was held 
up when heavy rainfall in August 2011 
caused a breach in the wall between 
the lake and Collie River. A two-year 
trial in now underway to assess what 
impact allowing river water to flow 
through the lake could have on water 
quality. 

In addition to transport infrastructure, 
we were also involved in a number of 
tourism infrastructure projects which 
are set to benefit the region. For 
example, extensions to the Munda 
Biddi cycling trail were completed, and 
concept plans for a possible extension 
to Bunbury’s Dolphin Discovery Centre 
were released.

Also on our agenda was a potential 
upgrade to the Busselton Regional 
Airport to accommodate interstate 
and international air services. Under 
our direction, a number of studies 
were carried out as part of efforts to 
put together a business case for the 
proposal and determine whether the 
plan is viable. 

Attempts to build our competitive 
advantage by enhancing our built 
environment saw us team up with 

Regional Development Australia – 
South West to get the region ready for 
the rollout of the National Broadband 
Network. Together, we commissioned 
a digital economy strategy that will 
highlight steps the South West can 
take in order to make the most of the 
opportunities that are expected to 
be made possible by the presence of 
superfast internet. 

Land for industry to grow
Without suitable industrial land, the 
South West would not have room for 
industry to grow.

For this reason, we are involved with 
a number of industrial land projects in 
the region.

During the year in review, we continued 
to be part of the Kemerton Industrial 
Park Coordinating Committee, which 
guided relevant agencies on structure 
planning for the estate. In this capacity, 
we continued to promote the park.

We sold land within the proposed 
Preston Industrial Park – Northern 
Precinct. The sale of this land will 
improve the coordination of the 
planned estate. Having initiated the 
idea of including a high-conservation 
area within the estate, we are pleased 
that land holdings previously held by 
the Commission are earmarked to 
form part of the proposed 234 hectare 
conservation area.

The South West of 
Western Australia 
became home to the 
world’s longest off-road 
cycling track when the 
southern section of the 
Munda Biddi Trail was 
completed during the 
year in review. 

Kemerton Industrial Park Busselton Regional Airport

INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENT
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Protecting and conserving our 
environment
In recognition of the importance of the 
region’s environment, we supported 
a number of projects that aimed to 
protect, preserve and restore the 
region’s natural beauty and biodiversity.

For starters, we aided the Collie Shire’s 
efforts to return the Collie River to its 
former glory. In accordance with the 
Collie River Revitalisation Program, 
riffles were installed in the waterway, 
exotic vegetation removed from 
the banks of the river, and Nardoo 
treatment and control measures 
undertaken.

We also provided $50,000 to the Cape 
to Cape Catchments Group towards 
the rehabilitation of Margaret River 
land affected by fire in 2011. The 
grant enabled the group’s volunteers 
to conduct activities such as weed 
control, revegetation, brushing and 
seed collection in two areas that are 

popular with tourists and locals – 
Surfers Point and Gnarabup.

A study we provided Royalties 
for Regions funding towards was 
successful in increasing knowledge 
of the flow, salinity, temperature and 
circulation in the Leschenault Estuary. 
The understanding gained will enhance 
the management and protection of the 
Australind waterway in the future.

While the construction of the Augusta 
Boat Harbour at Flat Rock will improve 
marine infrastructure in the South 
West and provide safer passage for 
boats, it will also provide environmental 
benefits. Rehabilitation of the 
previously unmanaged and degraded 
areas adjacent to the boat harbour site 
will increase the population of declared 
rare flora Kennedia lateritia and a host 
of other native plants. In addition, an 
underwater inspection of the outer 
face of the southern breakwater by 
a local marine biologist observed the 

early establishment of abalone and fish 
populations.

And having provided advice to the 
Department of Fisheries about where 
two artificial reefs should be built in the 
South West, we were pleased locations 
off Dunsborough and Bunbury were 
selected. The $2.38million reefs, which 
were officially opened in April, have 
provided new places for recreational 
fishers to cast their lines. Underwater 
footage showed the reefs were already 
attracting schools of fish.

People carry out work to rehabilitate fire-affected land in Margaret River.

Strategic priorities 
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In 2010, we teamed up with the 
Bunbury Wellington Economic Alliance, 
Bunbury Port Authority and The 
Chamber of Minerals and Energy WA 
to release a report into the region’s 
infrastructure needs.

Called Roads to Export, the report 
found that port-linked road and 
rail infrastructure was at or nearing 
capacity, and upgrades were required 
for the region to cope with industry and 
population growth, as well as provide 
safer roads.

We are pleased to report that several 
of the projects we identified as being 
integral to supporting the sustainable 
growth and future economic prosperity 
of the region have either been 
completed or have received funding.

Our three-year report card has 
recognised the following achievements:

	• The second stage of the Bunbury 
Port Access Road, which includes 
the first stage of the Bunbury Outer 
Ring Road, opened to traffic in May 
2013.

	• In June 2013, stages two and 
three of the Bunbury Outer Ring 
Road were listed in the National 
Infrastructure Plan as a project of 
‘real potential’.

	• In June 2013, a total of $1.5 million 
was allocated to the Bunbury Port 
Authority to enable it to investigate 
options for the Bunbury Inner 
Harbour expansion and potential 
Preston River realignment.

	• In May 2012, traffic signals at 
Eelup Roundabout in Bunbury 
were switched on, making Eelup 
the first signalised roundabout in 
Western Australia. Enhancements 
to the roundabout also included 
the creation of a new slip lane for 
southbound traffic in October 2011.

	• Works have continued to improve 
road safety on the Coalfields 
Highway. Improvements to a nine 
kilometre stretch of the highway 
west of Allanson to Collie have 
been completed. More upgrades 
are scheduled over the next three 
financial years. 

Despite our wins in progressing the 
projects identified in Roads to Export, 
there are still a number of projects 
named in the report that require 
attention, including the construction of 
a second railway track from Brunswick 
Junction to the Bunbury Port. 

To this end, we will continue to 
advocate for a transport funding 
package for the region that covers 
these key initiatives. Doing so will 
unlock bottlenecks that threaten to 
hold the region back.

Roads	to	Export

PROJECTS IN FOCUS

The Roads to Export agenda was progressed during the year in review.

Strategic priorities 
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Around the world, cycle tourism is 
taking off – and our region is now 
better placed than ever to benefit from 
this growing tourism market.

During the year in review, the South 
West became home to the world’s 
longest, most continuous off-road 
cycling track when construction of the 
southern section of the Munda Biddi 
Trail was completed.

In April, the Manjimup to Denmark 
stage of the trail was finished, marking 
the end of 12 years of construction 
work to create a cycling track from 
Mundaring to Albany.

In celebration, 26 cyclists from across 
Australia joined the Welldrill Munda 
Biddi Epic 1000 cycling event and 
embarked on the first end-to-end ride 
of the trail, starting in Albany on April 7 
and crossing the finish line three weeks 
later in Mundaring on April 28.

Having allocated $1.5million in 
Royalties for Regions funding towards 
the expansion of the Munda Biddi Trail 
in 2009, we were delighted to see the 
extended trail officially opened at the 
conclusion of the Welldrill Munda Biddi 
Epic 1000.

Already attracting more than 20,000 
cyclists a year, the trail is expected 
to lure even more people now that it 
has become the ultimate challenge for 
long-distance cyclists who will be able 
to test their skill and endurance while 
navigating the Munda Biddi through 
towering forests of trees and scenic 
river valleys.

We expect the trail to boost the local 
economy and benefit towns its passes 
near including Collie, Donnybrook, 

Boyanup, Nannup, Manjimup, 
Quinninup, Pemberton, Northcliffe, 
Walpole and Denmark.

To capitalise on the tourism 
opportunities the trail is set to bring 
communities situated along the trail, 
many businesses have already become 
‘cycle friendly’, offering special facilities 
and services for riders.

A second Munda Biddi Epic is planned 
for April 2014 and the completion of 
the Munda Biddi Trail, which means 
‘path through the forest’ in the 
Noongar Aboriginal language, has 
already attracted wide attention.

This is a great example of upgrading 
infrastructure and drawing on the 
appeal of the natural environment to 
enhance the region’s tourism potential.

The South West and Great Southern 
development commissions each 
contributed $1.5million in Royalties for 
Regions funding, while the Department 
of Environment and Conservation 
provided more than $1million.

Putting	the	South	West	on	the	cycle	tourism	map

PROJECTS IN FOCUS

The Munda Biddi Trail is now the world’s longest, most continuous 
off-road cycling track in the world.

Did you know?
Construction of the first 
leg from Mundaring to 
Collie started in January 
2001 and opened in 
July 2004. 

Strategic priorities 
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Strategic priorities 

Knowledge, Enterprise & Innovation

Highlights

	A total of 46 events share in $93,500 through our 
South West Events Program

	The Culinary Journeys of Western Australia food 
and wine event in Jakarta serves up new export 
opportunities for South West food and wine 
producers

	Our Bunbury-Jiaxing Business Office facilitates 
trade and inbound investment opportunities

	Drift is premiered in the region and theatrically 
released in Australia

	The inaugural Emergence Creative Festival is held 
in Margaret River

	The South West Workforce Development Plan 
2013-2016 is released

	A plan to guide efforts to strengthen the region’s 
tourism industry is released

	A Critical Horizons seminar explores the future of 
ecotourism in the region

Our challenge

	Facilitate inbound investment by hosting and 
organising trade delegations

	Facilitate exports of wine and food through 
overseas promotions

	Support industry development and diversification 
through the development of the tourism and 
creative sectors

	Prepare the region for upcoming opportunities and 
trends

	Address skills shortages

Edwin Zhuang from the Bunbury-Jiaxing Business Office (centre) introduces 
tourism representatives from China to a local at Bunbury Big Swamp Wildlife Park.

Drift actor and producer Myles Pollard lent star power to the 
movie's premiere in Yallingup when he attended the event with 
wife Brigitta.
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KNOWLEDGE, ENTERPRISE & INNOVATION

Yallingup may be thousands of kilometres 

from the bright lights of Hollywood, but in 

2012/13 film luminaries visited the town to 

walk the red carpet for the world premiere 

of Drift, the first feature film shot in the 

South West of Western Australia. Not long 

after the motion picture was released in 

Australian cinemas in May 2013, it was 

announced the creatives behind a new 

movie, Kill Me Three Times, would follow in 

the footsteps of Drift and film in the region. 

Clearly, the South West was emerging as a 

filming location of choice.

To ensure the South West continues 
to enjoy the benefits of being one 
of Western Australia’s top regional 
economic performers, we work to build 
relationships between knowledge, 
creativity and business. 

By bringing these areas together, we 
believe we can retain the region’s 
competitive edge, encourage 
investment, create new and more 
diverse job opportunities and ensure 
the region’s continued prosperity. 

In 2012/13, our efforts paid off, with a 
number of positive outcomes for the 
region.

Building business and investment
From wine to waves and truffles to 
trees, the South West has much to 
offer the world, especially when it 
comes to tourism and trade.

As a result, much of our work in 
creating a climate for investment 
involved promoting the region as a 
quality tourist destination and producer 
of premium food and wine.

In the reporting 
year, we worked 
to facilitate export 
opportunities and 
raise awareness of 

the South West as a culinary tourism 
destination in a number of ways. 
For example, we held the Culinary 
Journeys of Western Australia food 
and wine event in Jakarta over four 
days in June. Incorporating master 
classes, dinners and a gourmet garden 
party, the event resulted in a number of 
export deals for South West wineries, 
with more participants expected to 
sign contracts in 2013/14. 

In addition to taking our food and 
wine overseas as part of our efforts 
to unearth new markets for the 
region’s producers, we also brought 
industry buyers to the region. For 
instance, our annual Culinary Trail in 
November saw a group of trade and 
media representatives experience the 
delights of the Southern Forests and 
Margaret River Wine Region, before 
attending the inaugural Margaret River 
Gourmet Escape festival. The initiative 
shone the spotlight on the South West 
and locally-produced food and wine, 
and also gave participants first-hand 
experience of the region.

Actor Sam Worthington stars in Drift.

Critical Horizons guest speaker Francisco Dousdebés talks to local 
David Kerr at the ecotourism-themed conference in Bunbury.

Strategic priorities 
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Our Bunbury-Jiaxing Business Office 
enabled us to pursue a number of 
trade and investment opportunities. 
An example of this was how we 
teamed up to host a group of travel 
agents and officials from China. The 
group spent four days participating 
in a familarisation tour which took in 
Bunbury, Busselton, Yallingup and 
Margaret River. At the end of the visit, 
not only did we have a better idea of 
how the region could be packaged to 
better cater for tourists from China, but 
the travel agents had also gained first-
hand knowledge of places they will be 
selling to their customers. 

In regards to tourism, we continued to 
support the development of the cruise 
ship industry through our membership 
of the Bunbury Cruise Ship Committee. 
The group worked to promote Bunbury 
as a cruise ship destination and ensure 
cruise ship passengers receive a warm 
welcome on arrival through activities 
such as a free shuttle bus service from 
the port to the town centre. Though 
cruise ship arrivals were less than in 
recent years, a number of cruise ships 
are scheduled to dock in the city’s 
harbour next season.

Having Drift filmed in the South West 
was a coup for the region. Not only did 
the region benefit during production, 
but the theatrical release of the movie 
this financial year generated worldwide 
media exposure for the South West 
and presented opportunities to 
market the region on the back of the 
film. Seizing on this, we produced 

a brochure incorporating a map of 
locations used in the filming of Drift 
and coordinated national competitions 
to enable people to win trips to the 
region where the motion picture was 
shot. 

As well as brochures, we also had 
our hands on a signage project that 
aimed to encourage people driving 
between Bunbury and Albany and vice 
versa to travel via Frankland River and 
Boyup Brook. A total of 13 signs were 
installed in the lead-up to Boyup Brook 
as part of the push to get more people 
visiting the town.

Similarly, visitors stopping in Harvey 
were welcomed by a new entrance 
sign, which was funded by us through 
the Pinjarra-Brunswick Sustainability 
Strategy.

We released a report which identifies 
opportunities for strengthening the 

London-based Shane RJ Walker was one of the speakers 
who inspired at the Emergence Creative Festival.

Did you know?
Drift was seen on 180 
cinema screens in 
Australia. 

Strategic priorities 
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region’s tourism sector. Called Tourism 
Futures South West, the document 
highlights a number of ways the region 
can build on its tourism potential 
through investment and infrastructure 
and event development.

And our continued sponsorship of the 
South West Small Business Awards 
helped to encourage excellence in 
business. This year we sponsored the 
Tourism Award, which was won by 
Margaret River business Harvest Tours.

Education and knowledge
By investing in education and 
knowledge, we can help position the 
region and its residents for success in 
the future.

With this in mind, we continued to 
run our Critical Horizons think-tank 
series, which was set up to encourage 
leaders to consider how they can take 
advantage of emerging industry trends. 
Teaming up with the Bunbury Dolphin 
City Festival in 2012/13, we held a 

seminar which enabled attendees to 
consider the future of ecotourism. 
Experts gathered in Bunbury on 
October 19 to share their thoughts 
about where nature-based tourism 
was heading in the years ahead, and 
whether they could foresee any grey 
clouds on the horizon. The event 
marked the conclusion of a three-year 
cycle for the series.

As well as tourism, the creative 
industries sector benefited from our 
support during the year in review. In 
addition to commissioning a report 
that will provide insight into the value 
and potential of the industry when it 
is released in 2013/14, we sponsored 
local creative professionals to stage 
the inaugural Emergence Creative 
Festival. Held in Margaret River in 
February, the two-day event featured 
renowned guest speakers and enabled 
participants to explore the connection 
between creativity and technology. We 
are pleased to report that the event led 

to a number of business opportunities 
for the people who took part, including 
a local singer-songwriter who was 
invited to perform in Singapore.

We also worked to develop our 
understanding of the skills needs of 
the South West in order to gauge how 
well prepared the region is to take 
up future economic opportunities. 
Teaming up with the South West 
Workforce Development Alliance 
and the Department of Training and 
Workforce Development, we put 
together the South West Workforce 
Development Plan 2013-2016. 
Released in May 2013, the report 
highlights strategies for retaining and 
building a skilled workforce to meet the 
forecast economic needs of the region. 
By putting this plan into action, we will 
help to position the South West for 
continued economic success.

Chef Tony Howell cooks up interest in the South West as a culinary 
tourism destination at a master class in Jakarta.

Strategic priorities 
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At the Commission, we are big fans 
of events – and not just because 
attending them is usually an 
entertaining way to spend a few hours.

Events put our cities and towns in the 
spotlight, attract visitors to the region, 
and boost the economies of the places 
they are held in.

With this in mind, we provide funding 
each year to enable a diverse range of 
community events to take place in the 
region through our annual South West 
Events Program.

Through this program, we allocated a 
total of $93,500 grants, ranging from 
$1000 to $4000, to 46 events being 
staged in the region in 2013. 

We are pleased to report many of our 
sponsored events which took place 
during the first half of 2013 grew 
in popularity and attracted record 
crowds. For instance: 

	• The Go for 2 & 5 Harvey Harvest 
Festival attracted 14,000 people, up 
1000 people from 2012

	• The Bunbury Horse & Country 
Music Show drew 17,000 people, 
about 2000 more than the previous 
year

	• The Busselton Jetty Swim had to 
close off entries early for the first 
time in its 18 year history after a 
record number of people registered 
their interest in taking part, leading 
to more than 1500 people taking 
part in the swim.

And it wasn’t only through the South 
West Events Program that we aimed 

to stimulate the South West’s tourism 
industry and the region’s economy in 
general.

In addition to assisting festivals, 
concerts and sporting contests 
through the South West Events 
Program, we also provided a financial 
helping hand to other events which 
benefited the region.

For example, after providing funding 
towards the filming of Drift in the 
region, we also sponsored the world 
premiere of the movie at Caves House 
in Yallingup. A crowd of about 1300 
people, including actors, extras, 
surfers and investors, walked the red 
carpet to be among the first to see the 
movie’s big waves on the big screen. 
Among those who watched the film 
at the premiere was the winner of our 

Drift photo competition, which we 
organised to give back to the local 
community.

We also worked with members of our 
Creative Corner group to put together 
the Emergence Creative Festival, which 
attracted national and international 
speakers, as well as delegates from 
around Australia. And we teamed up 
with the Bunbury Dolphin City Festival 
to organise an ecotourism-themed 
Critical Horizons event.

In addition, we worked to develop 
events by helping to source funding 
opportunities, offering advice on 
applying for funding, and providing 
organisations with the opportunity to 
learn from other event organisations.

Supporting	the	region’s	events

PROJECTS IN FOCUS

Crowds parted in amazement at the Go for 2 and 5 Harvey Harvest Festival as 
sheep were herded through the festival by Ivan Solomon's working dogs.

Strategic priorities 
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The South West region of Western 
Australia attracts more visitors than 
any other region outside of Perth. 
Despite the region’s success in this 
area, we know we must work to ensure 
the region remains on the must-see 
lists of tourists in the face of increasing 
competition from around the world.

As a result, we endeavour to come 
up with new ways to strengthen our 
tourism industry. 

To this end, we released a strategy that 
will help guide our efforts to heighten 
the appeal of the region to tourists.

Called Tourism Futures South West, 
the document highlights a number 
of ways the region can strengthen 
the local tourism sector through 
investment, as well as infrastructure 
and event development.

The report, which was developed in 
consultation with representatives from 
the region’s tourism industry and the 
Commission’s tourism committee, will 
guide our efforts to:

	• Attract more visitors to the South 
West

	• Entice tourists to stay longer in the 
region

	• Encourage visitors to spend more 
during their stay

And while the Commission will be 
concentrating on infrastructure and 
event development, as well as the 
packaging of experiences for the 
domestic and international markets, 
the report also names a number of 
projects considered key to developing 
the tourism potential of the region. 

Projects regarded as high priorities 
include:

 •  The development of a mega fauna 
centre in Margaret River

	• The completion of the Busselton 
Foreshore redevelopment

	• The completion of the Dolphin 
Discovery Centre upgrade

	• The upgrading and extension of the 
Collie Motorplex

	• Redevelopment of the Manjimup 
Timber and Heritage Park

	• Establishment of cruise ship facilities 
at the new Augusta boat harbour

	• Development of the Busselton 
Regional Airport into a facility 
capable of accommodating flights 
from interstate and overseas

The Commission’s role with these 
projects will be to support funding 
applications, as well as provide 
assistance and advice to the 
proponent.

And though the report does not 
make any funding announcements, 
we anticipate that it will be used by 
organisations to support funding 
applications.

It may also be of interest to potential 
investors wanting insight into the 
region's tourism trends and priorities.

We will work with the tourism sector, 
as well as government at all levels, 
to implement the directions set out in 
the plan as part of our usual efforts to 
boost the region.

Strengthening	the	region’s	tourism	industry

PROJECTS IN FOCUS

Artist impressions show what Bunbury’s Dolphin Discovery Centre is expected to look like 
once the second stage of its planned redevelopment has been completed.

Strategic priorities 
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Our office, our people

With a headcount of 23, our workforce 
is relatively small compared to other 
State Government agencies and 
departments, especially when you 
consider that a handful of these staff 
members are part-time workers.

However, our commitment to 
excellence means that our people 
are achieving outstanding outcomes 
for the region. This is reflected in the 
results of our annual client survey 
where 97 per cent of our key clients 
indicated they were satisfied with the 
quality of performance provided by the 
Commission.

One of the key reasons why our 
organisation continually achieves high 
rankings in the client survey year after 
year is because we attract and retain 
highly-skilled staff. We then continue 
to provide our staff with the training 
they require to develop their skills and 
to keep pace with new industry trends 
through our professional development 
program. In the year in review, 
$23,583 was spent on professional 
development.

In line with our commitment to training 
and education, we opened up our 

office to a Year 12 work experience 
student from Bunbury Senior High 
School for two weeks. This was 
one way we supported the career 
development of young people in 
the region during the year in review. 
Another way was through providing a 
position for a business trainee.

Because our people are one of our 
most important assets – after all, we 
couldn’t do what we do, without them 
– we invested in a number of initiatives 
to enhance their health and safety. For 
example, we introduced free flu shots 
and first aid training and carried our 
ergonomic testing of work stations in 
the office. With employees driving in 
varying road conditions throughout the 
region, staff members also took part in 
a defensive driving course.

And while employees took up training 
opportunities and opportunities to 
improve their health and safety, they 
also gave back. In a voluntary capacity, 
staff members raised funds for charities 
and not-for-profit organisations. Money 
procured by the social club through 
donations to a charity tin, combined 
with the proceeds from an office snack 

box, resulted in $280.50 being raised 

for Riding for Disabled in Bunbury. In 

addition, staff members donated items 

to Foodbank’s Christmas appeal.

In support of the operations of the 

office, staff also fulfilled a number of 

voluntarily roles, including those of first 

aid officer and fire warden. 

How	we	performed
Our 2012/13 client survey asked local 

government representatives and key 

clients to rate the effectiveness of the 

Commission in assisting or contributing 

to the region’s development.

People were asked to rate the 

Commission’s performance in the 

strategic priority areas of:

	• Investing in People and Place

	• Investing in Infrastructure and 

Environment

	• Investing in Knowledge, Enterprise 

and Innovation

From 239 clients invited to participate 

in the survey, 80 completed the 

questionnaire.

Client survey results

Regional Development - SWDC effectiveness rating
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Regional Development - SWDC quality of service rating
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Each year the South West Development Commission is required to meet a number of targets 
set by the State Government. These targets relate to Government-desired outcomes, services 
to be delivered and performance targets to be achieved. The agreement is a transparent way 
for the State Government to monitor the operational performance of the Commission.

Financial targets

2012/13 
Budget 

Estimate1

2012/13 
Actual Variation2

Total cost of services (i.e. endorsed expense limit) $5,746,000 $7,306,285 $1,560,285

Net cost of services (details in the Income Statement) $5,686,000 $7,192,864 $1,506,864

Total equity (details in the Balance Sheet) $14,058,000 $22,361,771 $8,303,771

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 
(details in Cash Flow Statement) 

$21,000 $4,393,708 $4,414,708

Full time equivalent (FTE) staff level 24 22 2

1. As specified in the budget statements for the year in question. 
2. Explanations are contained in Note 33 Explanatory Statement.

Key performance indicators
2012/13 
Target1

2012/13 
 Actual Variation2

SERVICE: REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Key effectiveness indicator – Customer satisfaction 
survey

80% 82% 2%

Key efficiency indicator – Average cost per hour of 
service

$178 $202 $24

1. As specified in the budget statements for the year in question. 
2. Explanations for the variations between target and actual results are presented in the Performance Indicators.

Government	performance	framework

Resource agreement

After hearing that many local charities were struggling to meet the demand for food over 
Christmas, staff members like Adelle Kear and Gayle Gray swung into action, collecting non-
perishable food items for our charity basket.

While Christmas is a joy-filled 

occasion for many, it can be 

stressful for others. To help take 

the pressure off struggling local 

families, staff members put their 

hands up to support the 2012 

Foodbank WA Bunbury Christmas 

Appeal. And within weeks, we were 

able to donate a basket of non-

perishable food items to the not-for-

profit organisation, which used the 

goodies in Christmas hampers.

Our performance
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South West Events Program

Recipient Project
Grant 

(GST exc.)

ARTATAC - Busselton Beach Festival Inc Busselton Beach Festival $2,000

City of Bunbury Australia Day Celebrations & Fireworks Spectacular 2012 $4,000

Donnybrook Wineries & Producers Inc Donnybrook Food & Wine Fest 2013 $2,000

Manjimup Speedway Club Inc World Series Sprintcars $3.000

Country Music Club of Boyup Brook WA Inc Centre Stage $3,000

Geographe Bay Yacht Club Inc Redink Homes Geographe Bay Race Week $2,000

Bunbury Regional Arts Management Board Kep Koondarminy $1,500

Augusta River Festival Inc 2013 Augusta River Festival $2,000

Dunsborough Progress Association Inc Dunsborough Arts Festival $2,000

Manjimup Family Centre Inc FIFO/DIDO Family Support Expo $2,500

Nannup Music Club Inc 2013 Nannup Music Festival $3,000

City of Bunbury Viva Bunbury 2013 $2,000

Harvey Mainstreet Inc Harvey Harvest Festival $2,500

Donnybrook Apple Festival Inc Donnybrook Apple Festival $1,000

Through the South West Events Program, the South West 
Development Commission provides financial support to 
community groups, non-profit organisations and local 
governments to promote and coordinate festivals and events. 

The objectives are to:

	• Promote visitation to the South West through events which 
are of regional significance; and 

	• Provide an experience of high quality.

The following 46 grant applications were approved.

Funding programs
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Recipient Project
Grant 

(GST exc.)

Myalup Community Association Inc Myalup Easter Fair 2013 $1,000

Log Fence Pony Club Inc State Tetrathalon Championships 2013 $1,500

Yarloop Steam Workshops Inc Steam Day Season Opening Event $1,000

Forum Advocating Cultural and Ecotourism (FACET) 
and Manjimup Farmers Market

Culinary Journeys – All the Tourism Ingredients $2,000

Bunbury Agricultural Society Inc Bunbury Horse & Country Music Show $2,000

Collie Country Music Club Inc Collie Country Music Round Up & Talent Quest $1,000

Southern Forests Festival/ Pemberton Community 
Resource Centre Inc

Southern Forest Festival $2,500

Arts Margaret River Inc Words Uncorked – Margaret River Readers & Writers 
Festival 2013

$2,000

Just Artists and Musicians Performing Awesome 
Creation Together Inc (JAMPACT)

JAMPACT Fiesta $2,000

City of Busselton Jazz by the Bay – Winter Festival $2,000

Bridgetown-Greenbushes Tourism Association Inc Opening of the Bridgetown in the Winter Festival 2013 $3,000

Blackwood Valley Wine Industry Association Taste of the Blackwood 2013 $2,000

Dunsborough and Districts Progress Association Inc Dunsborough Bay Fun Run $1,000

WA Performing Arts Eisteddfod Incorporating The 
City of Bunbury Eisteddfod

WA Performing Arts Eisteddfod Incorporating The City of 
Bunbury Eisteddfod

$2,500

Margaret River Concert Band Inc Margaret River Band Weekend Concert $1,000

Goomburrup Aboriginal Corporation Community Naidoc Celebration $2,000

Balingup and Districts Tourism Association Inc Telling Tales in Balingup $2,000

Collie Cycle Club Inc Collie to Donnybrook & Return Cycling Classic/Traffic 
Management

$1,000

Ocean Forest Lutheran College South West Super Science Spectacular $3,000

Nannup Garden Village Inc Nannup Flower and Garden Festival $2,000

Bunbury Historical Society Inc The Royal Western Australian State Annual Conference 
of Affiliated Societies

$2,000

City of Bunbury The Funtabulous Bunbury Kidsfest 2013 $2,000

Quinninup Community Association Quinninup Market Day and Wine Tasting $2,000

City of Bunbury Surf Life Saving Club Inc Hot FM Surf to Surf Fun Run $1,000

School Volunteer Program Inc South West Mentoring Summit $2,000

Augusta-Margaret River  Tourism Association 
(AMRTA)

Illuminate $2,000

Augusta-Margaret River Tourism Association 
(AMRTA)

Australian Regional Tourism Network (ARTN) Convention $3,000

Rotary Margaret River Inc Margaret River Fun Run $1,000

South West Indian Group Inc (SWIG) Diwali $1,000

Shire of Augusta-Margaret River Mr SAM (Margaret River Skate Art Music) Festival $2,000

Manjimup Chamber of Commerce & Industry Inc Manjimup Cherry Harmony Festival $3,000

Bunbury Multicultural Group Inc Bunbury Multicultural Group Events $3,500

Funding programs
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Non-contestable grants
The Commission administered non-contestable grants in 2012/13.

Recipient Project
Grant 

(GST exc.)

Pemberton Hydro Energy Association Inc. Pemberton Hydro $3,500

Investing In Our Youth Inc South West Regional Youth Mental Health Development 
Officer

$120,000

Ngalang Boodja Council Aboriginal Corporation Noongar Housing Project Consultancy $5,000

City of Bunbury Lighting Up Bunbury $100,000

Busselton Family Centre Inc. FIFO Symposium - Busselton $5,000

Bunbury Dolphin Discovery Inc Critical Horizons Futures Series - Ecotourism: Future 
Challenges and Innovation

$20,000

Busselton Allsports  Inc 2013 Be Active Busselton Jetty Swim - Aerial Service $3,152

Tom-Tom Productions Pty Limited Mark Olive Academy $5,000

City of Busselton Busselton Vasse Shared Path Project $1,395,000

Small Business Centre Bunbury-Wellington 2013 South West Small Business Awards $3,500

Shire of Nannup Drift Artwork in Nannup $2,500

South West Sensations Showcase South West Sensations Showcase 2013 $10,000

Ngalang Boodja Council Aboriginal Corporation Collie Noongar Community Centre Opening Ceremony $2,029

Bunbury Dolphin Discovery Inc Dolphin Centre Masterplan 2013 $15,000

City of Busselton Marine Tourism Facility - Busselton Jetty $10,000

Shire of Harvey Walkability Audit - Shire of Harvey $2,500

City of Bunbury Regional Domestic Animal Welfare Centre and Pound $25,000

City of Bunbury Bunbury-Wellington Waste Management Facility (Phase1) $11,000

Shire of Nannup Heart of Nannup - Main Street Project $4,320

Shire of Nannup WA Institute of Emergency Management $25,000

Shire of Bridgetown-Greenbushes Bridgetown Swimming Pool Redevelopment $24,890

Shire of Augusta-Margaret River Capes Regional Tourism Foreshore Precincts Project $5,000

South West Vetlink Inc Manjimup Youth Expo $300

Busselton Senior High School Equine Therapy Program $300

Bess Home and Community Care Inc. Busselton Men's Shed $400

South West Senior Expo Inc 2012 South West Seniors Expo $500

Shire of Capel Walkability Training in the South West Region $300

Shire of Nannup Aged Housing Plan $999

Woolkabunning Kiaka Association Inc Respect Program $908

Bunbury Dolphin Discovery Inc Marine Mapping of Koombana Bay $1,000

Augusta Mens Shed Inc Opening of the Augusta Mens Shed Inc $500

Ngalang Boodja Council Aboriginal Corporation Collie Yorgas Resources Project 2013 $1,000

Shire of Donnybrook-Balingup Developing Donnybrook Strategy - Community 
Engagement & Growth Planning

$30,000

Shire of Capel Capel Shire Community Facilities and Services Plan $30,000

Geographe Bay Tourism Association 2013 Regional Branding Project $20,000

South West Vetlink Inc One Life Footy Forums $500

Funding programs
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Recipient Project
Grant 

(GST exc.)

Ngalang Boodja Council Aboriginal Corporation Sustainability of the Collie Noongar Community Centre 
and the Ngalang Boodja Council Aboriginal Corporation.

$87,500

Bunbury Pathways 92 Inc. Bunbury Pathways - Mental Health Week Activities. $700

Cape to Cape Catchments Group Inc. Margaret River Coastal Rehabilitation $50,000

L A M P Inc Room 226 Youth Support Program (mental health) $400

City of Bunbury Withers Urban Renewal - Stage 1 $300,000

City of Busselton Capes Higher Education Project $10,000

Shire of Manjimup Pemberton Art Wall - Final Stage $27,000

Enable Southwest Inc - Auspicing  Art Partners WA Art Partners 2013 $500

Edith Cowan University ECU Graduate Prizes 2013-2015 $3,000

South West Vetlink Inc Future Possibilities Youth Conference $500

Dept of Employment Education & Workplace 
Relations

South West Language  & Literacy Directory $350

The opening the Collie Noongar Community Centre was celebrated with a display of dancing.

Funding programs
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Certification of Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013

Financial statements

The accompanying financial statements of South West Development 
Commission have been prepared in compliance with the provisions 
of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and 
records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2013 and the financial position as at 30 June 
2013.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which 
would render any particulars included in the financial statements 
misleading or inaccurate.

Stuart Hicks
Chairman of the Board
13 September 2013

 

Don Punch
Member of the Board
13 September 2013

Susan Fitchat
Chief Finance Officer
13 September 2013

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AND KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATORS REPORT 

ON OUR PERFORMANCE 

THROUGHOUT THE YEAR

Disclosures and legal compliance

Stephen Foster, Neville Eastman and Don Punch talk about Club Doctors. Since 
forming in 2006 to help community organisations run smoothly, the free service has 

carried out about 400 assignments for more than 150 groups across the South West.



SWDC Annual Report 2013 45

Independent Auditor's Report

Disclosures and legal compliance

Auditor General

Page 1 of 3

7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth  MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849  TEL: 08 6557 7500  FAX: 08 6557 7600

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Parliament of Western Australia

SOUTH WEST DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION

Report on the Financial Statements
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the South West Development 
Commission.

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2013, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash 
Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Board’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Board determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Commission’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the South West Development Commission at 
30 June 2013 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.
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Report on Controls
I have audited the controls exercised by the South West Development Commission during the 
year ended 30 June 2013.

Controls exercised by the South West Development Commission are those policies and 
procedures established by the Board to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of 
money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in 
accordance with legislative provisions.

Board’s Responsibility for Controls
The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure that 
the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of public and 
other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
controls exercised by the South West Development Commission based on my audit conducted 
in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of 
controls to ensure that the Commission complies with the legislative provisions. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the 
design and implementation of relevant controls.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the South West Development Commission are 
sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities 
have been in accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2013.

Report on the Key Performance Indicators
I have audited the key performance indicators of the South West Development Commission for 
the year ended 30 June 2013.

The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency 
indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service provision.

Board’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators
The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions and for such controls as the Board determines necessary to ensure that the key 
performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing and Assurance Standards. 

Disclosures and legal compliance
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance 
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making 
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Board’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of 
outcome achievement and service provision.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the South West Development Commission are 
relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Commission’s performance and fairly 
represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2013.

Independence
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements. 

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and 
Key Performance Indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
South West Development Commission for the year ended 30 June 2013 included on the 
Commission’s website. The Commission’s management is responsible for the integrity of the 
Commission’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the 
Commission’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key 
performance indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other 
information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial statements or key 
performance indicators. If users of the financial statements and key performance indicators are 
concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to 
refer to the hard copy of the audited financial statements and key performance indicators to 
confirm the information contained in this website version of the financial statements and key 
performance indicators.

GLEN CLARKE
DEPUTY AUDITOR GENERAL
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia
Perth, Western Australia
19 September 2013

Disclosures and legal compliance
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Note 2013 $ 2012 $

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 6 2,286,869 2,438,779

Supplies and services 7 1,283,549 1,690,722

Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 144,952 153,909

Accommodation expenses 9 232,239 233,711

Grants and subsidies 10 2,967,997 4,246,892

Loss on disposal of non current assets 11 73,360 -

Other expenses 12 317,319 94,812

Total cost of services 7,306,285 8,858,825

Income 
Revenue

Grants and contributions 13 19,990 112,500

Other revenue 14 93,431 350,792

Total revenue 113,421 463,292

Total income other than income from State Government 113,421 463,292

NET COST OF SERVICES 7,192,864 8,395,533

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 15

Service appropriation                    4,517,000 4,445,000

Grants from government agencies - 1,567,000

Resources received free of charge 19,668 15,231

Royalties for Regions funds 1,039,500 2,090,000

Total income from State Government 5,576,168 8,117,231

DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD (1,616,696) (278,302)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 22                (151,484) 8,532,673

Total other comprehensive income (151,484) 8,532,673

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (1,768,180) 8,254,371

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME for the year ended 30 June 2013

Disclosures and legal compliance
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Note 2013 $ 2012 $

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 27 888,583 740,582

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16 9,187,231 4,948,575

Receivables 17 124,601 195,435

Amounts receivable for services 18 62,000 62,000

Non-current assets classified as held for sale                22 - 5,525,000

Total current assets 10,262,415 11,471,592

Non-current assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16 49,262 42,211

Amounts receivable for services 18 1,221,000 1,087,000

Property, plant and equipment 19 11,342,871 11,577,280

Infrastructure 20 965,519 1,011,679

Intangible assets 21 4,242 -

Total non-current assets 13,582,894 13,718,170

TOTAL ASSETS 23,845,309 25,189,762

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Payables 24 735,323 306,468

Provisions 25 656,466 613,831

Total current liabilities 1,391,789 920,299

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 25 91,749 139,512

Total non-current liabilities 91,749 139,512

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,483,538 1,059,811

NET ASSETS 22,361,771 24,129,951

EQUITY 26

Contributed equity 11,389,177 11,389,177

Reserves 12,770,461 12,921,945

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (1,797,867) (181,171)

TOTAL EQUITY 22,361,771 24,129,951

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION as at 30 June 2013

Disclosures and legal compliance



50

Note
Contributed 

equity $ Reserves $
Accumulated 

surplus/(deficit) $ Total equity $

Balance at 1 July 2012 26 11,389,177 12,921,945 (181,171) 24,129,951

Surplus/(deficit) - (151,484) - (151,484)

Other comprehensive income for the year period - -      (1,616,696) (1,616,696)

Total comprehensive income for the period - (151,484) (1,616,696) (1,768,180)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners: 
Capital appropriations - - - -

Total - - - -

Balance at 30 June 2013 11,389,177 12,770,461 (1,797,867) 22,361,771

Balance at 1 July 2010 26 11,389,177 4,389,272 97,131 15,875,580

Surplus/(deficit) - - (278,302) (278,302)

Other comprehensive income for the year period                                                  - 8,532,673 - 8,532,673

Total comprehensive income for the period - 8,532,673 (278,302) 8,254,371

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners: 
Capital appropriations - - - -

Total - - - -

Balance at 30 June 2012 11,389,177 12,921,945 (181,171) 24,129,951

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY for the year ended 30 June 2013

Disclosures and legal compliance
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Note 2013 $ 2012 $

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriation 4,353,000 4,288,000

Holding account drawdowns 30,000 30,000

Grant from State government agency - 1,567,000

Royalties for the Regions Fund 1,039,500 2,090,000

Net cash provided by State Government  5,422,500 7,975,000

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Employee benefits  (2,331,898) (2,369,593)

Supplies and services  (1,312,221) (1,626,532)

Accommodation (232,239) (238,458)

Grants and subsidies (2,488,546) (4,462,142)

GST payments on purchases (904,531) (643,704)

Other payments  (317,319) (88,408)

Receipts

Grants and contributions 19,990 105,000

GST receipts on sales 618,863 212,976

GST receipts from taxation authority 285,406 442,563

Other receipts  183,356 276,682

Net cash used in operating activities 27 (6,479,139) (8,391,616)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments 

Purchase of non-current physical assets  (20,107) (34,938)

Receipts

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets  5,470,454 -

Net cash used in investing activities  5,450,347 (34,938)

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents held 4,393,708 (451,554)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period  5,731,368 6,182,922

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 27 10,125,076 5,731,368

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS for the year ended 30 June 2013
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 30 June 2013

1. Australian equivalents 
to International Financial 
Reporting Standards

General

The Commission’s financial statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2013 have been 
prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards.  The term 
‘Australian Accounting Standards’ refers 
to Standards and Interpretations issued by 
the Australian Accounting Standard Board 
(AASB). 

The Commission has adopted any 
applicable, new and revised Australian 
Accounting Standards from their operative 
dates.

Early adoption of standards

The Commission cannot early adopt 
an Australian Accounting Standard 
unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 
‘Application of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Other Pronouncements’.  
There has been no early adoption of 
Australia Accounting Standards that 
have been issued or amended (but not 
operative) by the Commission for the 
annual reporting period ended 30 June 
2013.

2. Summary of significant 
accounting policies

(a) General statement

The Commission is a not-for-profit entity 
that prepares general purpose financial 
statements in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and 
other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board 
as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. 
Several of these are modified by the 
Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, 
disclosure, format and wording. 

The Financial Management Act and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions are legislative 
provisions that govern the preparation of 
financial statements and take precedence 
over Accounting Standards, the 

Framework, Statements of Accounting 
Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board.

Where modification is required and has 
a material or significant financial effect 
upon the reported results, details of that 
modification and the resulting financial 
effect are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been 
prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting using the historical cost 
convention, except for land, buildings and 
infrastructure which have been measured 
at fair value. 

The accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of the financial statements 
have been consistently applied throughout 
all periods presented unless otherwise 
stated.

The financial statements are presented in 
Australian dollars.

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by 
management in applying accounting 
policies’ discloses judgements that have 
been made in the process of applying 
the Commission’s accounting policies 
resulting in the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements.  

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation 
uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions 
made concerning the future, and other 
key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the end of the reporting period, that have 
a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial.

(c) Reporting entity

The reporting entity is South West 
Development Commission.

(d) Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions 
by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public 
Sector Entities’ requires transfers in the 

nature of equity contributions, other than 
as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the 
Government (the owner) as contributions 
by owners (at the time of, or prior to 
transfer) before such transfers can be 
recognised as equity contributions. Capital 
appropriations have been designated as 
contributions by owners by Treasurer’s 
Instruction (TI) 955 ‘Contributions by 
Owners made to Wholly Owned Public 
Sector Entities’ and have been credited 
directly to Contributed Equity.

Transfer of net assets to/from other 
agencies, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, 
are designated as contributions by owners 
where the transfers are non-discretionary 
and non-reciprocal.

(e) Income

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of 
consideration received or receivable. The 
following specific recognition criteria must 
also be met before revenue is recognised 
for the major business activities as follows:

Service appropriations

Service Appropriations are recognised 
as revenues at fair value in the period in 
which the Commission gains control of 
the appropriated funds. The Commission 
gains control of appropriated funds at 
the time those funds are deposited to the 
bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts 
receivable for services’ (holding account) 
held at Treasury.

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised from the sale 
of goods and disposal of other assets 
when the significant risks and rewards 
of ownership control transfer to the 
purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Provision of services

Revenue is recognised on delivery of the 
service to the client or by reference to the 
stage of completion of the transaction.

Interest

Revenue is recognised as the interest 
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accrues.

Grants, donations, gifts and other 

non-reciprocal contributions

Revenue is recognised at the fair value 
when the Commission obtains control over 
the assets comprising the contributions, 
usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that 
are not contributions by owners are 
recognised at their fair value. Contributions 
of services are only recognised when a 
fair value can be reliably determined and 
the services would be purchased if not 
donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised 
as revenue at fair value in the period in 
which the Commission obtains control 
over the funds.  The Commission obtains 
control of the funds at the time the funds 
are deposited into the Commission’s bank 
account.

Gains

Realised or unrealised gains are usually 
recognised on a net basis. These include 
gains arising on the disposal of non-
current assets and some revaluations of 
non-current assets.  

(f) Property, plant and equipment 
and infrastructure 

Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Items of property, plant and equipment 
and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more 
are recognised as assets and the cost of 
utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) 
over their useful lives. Items of property, 
plant and equipment and infrastructure 
costing less than $5,000 are immediately 
expensed direct to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income (other than where 
they form part of a group of similar items 
which are significant in total). 

Initial recognition and measurement

All items of property, plant and equipment 
and infrastructure are initially recognised 
at cost.

For items of property, plant and equipment 
and infrastructure acquired at no cost or 

for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value 
at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition as an 
asset, the revaluation model is used for 
the measurement of land, buildings and 
Infrastructure and historical cost for all 
other property, plant and equipment. Land, 
buildings and infrastructure are carried at 
fair value less accumulated depreciation 
(buildings and infrastructure only) and 
accumulated impairment losses. All other 
items of property, plant and equipment are 
stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Where market-based evidence is available, 
the fair value of land and buildings is 
determined on the basis of current market 
buying values determined by reference 
to recent market transactions. When 
buildings are re-valued by reference 
to recent market transactions, the 
accumulated depreciation is eliminated 
against the gross carrying amount of the 
asset and the net amount restated to the 
re-valued amount.

In the absence of market-based evidence, 
the fair value of land and buildings is 
determined on the basis of existing use. 
This normally applies where buildings 
are specialised or where land use is 
restricted. Fair value for existing use assets 
is determined by reference to the cost of 
replacing the remaining future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the 
depreciated replacement cost. Where 
the fair value of buildings is dependent 
on using the depreciated replacement 
cost, the gross carrying amount and the 
accumulated depreciation are restated 
proportionately.

Land and buildings are independently 
valued annually by the Western Australian 
Land Information Authority (Valuation 
Services) and recognised annually to 
ensure that the carrying amount does not 
differ materially from the asset’s fair value 
at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value of infrastructure has been 

determined by reference to the 
depreciated replacement cost (existing 
use basis) as the assets are specialised 
and no market-based evidence of value is 
available. 

When infrastructure is re-valued, the 
accumulated depreciation is restated 
proportionately with the change in the 
gross carrying amount of the asset so 
that the carrying amount of the asset after 
revaluation equals its re-valued amount.

The most significant assumptions in 
estimating fair value are made in assessing 
whether to apply the existing use basis 
to assets and in determining estimated 
useful life.  Professional judgement by the 
valuer is required where evidence does not 
provide a clear distinction between market 
type assets and existing use assets.

Derecognition

Upon disposal or derecognition of an 
item of property, plant and equipment 
and infrastructure, any revaluation surplus 
relating to that asset is retained in the 
asset revaluation surplus. 

Asset Revaluation Reserve

The asset revaluation reserve is used to 
record increments and decrements on 
the revaluation of non-current assets as 
described in note 19 ‘Property, plant and 
equipment’.

Depreciation 

All non-current assets having a limited 
useful life are systematically depreciated 
over their estimated useful lives in a 
manner that reflects the consumption of 
their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the 
straight line methods, using rates which 
are reviewed annually. Estimated useful 
lives for each class of depreciable asset 
are:

Buildings  20 years – 40 years
Office equipment 3 years – 10 years
Infrastructure 29 years

Works of art controlled by the Commission 
are classified as property, plant and 
equipment, which are anticipated to 
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have very long and indefinite useful lives. 
Their service potential has not, in any 
material sense, been consumed during the 
reporting period and so no depreciation 
has been recognised.

Land is not depreciated.

(g) Intangible assets 

Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing 
$5,000 or more and internally generated 
intangible assets costing over $50,000 
or more are capitalised. The cost of 
utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) 
over their useful life. Costs incurred 
below these thresholds are immediately 
expensed directly to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

All acquired and internally developed 
intangible assets are initially recognised at 
cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for 
nominal consideration, the cost is their fair 
value at the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent 
measurement requiring the asset to be 
carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with 
finite useful lives is calculated for the 
period of the expected benefit (estimated 
useful life) on the straight line basis 
using rates which are reviewed annually. 
All intangible assets controlled by the 
Commission have a finite useful life and 
zero residual value. The expected useful 
lives of this class of intangible asset are:

Software    3 years

Computer software

Software that is an integral part of the 
related hardware is treated as property, 
plant and equipment. Software that is not 
an integral part of the related hardware is 
treated as an intangible asset. Software 
costing less than $5,000 is expensed in 
the year of acquisition.

Website costs

Website costs are charged as expenses 

when they are incurred unless they relate 
to the acquisition or development of an 
asset when they may be capitalised and 
amortised. Generally, costs in relation 
to feasibility studies during the planning 
of a website, and ongoing costs of 
maintenance during the operating phase 
are expensed. Costs incurred in building 
or enhancing a website, to the extent that 
they represent probable future economic 
benefits that can be reliably measured, are 
capitalised.

(h) Impairment of assets

Property, plant and equipment, 
infrastructure and intangible assets are 
tested for any indication of impairment at 
the end of each reporting period. Where 
there is an indication of impairment, the 
recoverable amount is estimated.  Where 
the recoverable amount is less than the 
carrying amount, the asset is written down 
to the recoverable amount and impairment 
is recognised. As the Commission is a 
not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has 
been identified as a surplus asset, the 
recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited 
to circumstances where an asset’s 
depreciation is materially understated, 
where the replacement cost is falling 
or where there is significant change in 
useful life. Each relevant class of assets 
is reviewed annually to verify that the 
accumulated depreciation/amortisation 
reflects the level of consumption or 
expiration of an asset’s future economic 
benefits and to evaluate any impairment 
risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful 
life and intangible assets not yet available 
for use are tested for impairment at the 
end of each reporting period irrespective 
of whether there is any indication of 
impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets 
identified as surplus assets is the higher of 
fair value less costs to sell and the present 
value of future cash flows expected to be 

derived from the asset. Surplus assets 
carried at fair value have no risk of material 
impairment where fair value is determined 
by reference to market-based evidence.  
Where fair value is determined by reference 
to depreciated replacement cost, surplus 
assets are at risk of impairment and the 
recoverable amount is measured. Surplus 
assets at cost are tested for indications of 
impairments at the end of each reporting 
period.

(i) Non-current assets (or disposal 
groups) classified as held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) 
held for sale are recognised at the lower of 
carrying amount and fair value less costs 
to sell and are presented separately from 
other assets in the Statement of Financial 
Position. Assets classified as held for sale 
are not depreciated or amortised.

(j) Leases

The Commission holds operating leases 
for head office and a number of branch 
office buildings. Lease payments are 
expensed on a straight line basis over 
the lease term as this represents the 
pattern of benefits derived from the leased 
properties.

(k) Financial instruments

In addition to cash, the Commission has 
two categories of financial instrument:

•	 Receivables; and
•	 Financial liabilities measured at 

amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been 
disaggregated into the following classes:

Financial assets
•	 Cash and cash equivalents
•	 Restricted cash and cash equivalents
•	 Receivables
•	 Amounts receivable for services

Financial liabilities
•	 Payables

Initial recognition and measurement of 
financial instruments is at fair value which 
normally equates to the transaction cost or 
the face value. Subsequent measurement 
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is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables 
and payables is the transaction cost or the 
face value because there is no interest rate 
applicable and subsequent measurement 
is not required as the effect of discounting 
is not material.

(l) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash 
Flows, cash and cash equivalents (and 
restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets 
comprise cash on hand which are subject 
to insignificant risk of change in value.

(m) Accrued salaries 

The accrued salaries suspense account 
(see note 16 ‘Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents’) consists of amounts paid 
annually into a suspense account over 
a period of 10 financial years to largely 
meet the additional cash outflow in each 
eleventh year when 27 pays occur in that 
year instead of the normal 26. No interest 
is received on this account.

Accrued salaries (see note 24 ‘Payables’) 
represent the amount due to staff but 
unpaid at the end of the financial year. 
Accrued salaries are settled within a 
fortnight of the financial year end. The 
Commission considers the carrying 
amount of accrued salaries to be 
equivalent to its net fair value. 

(n) Amounts receivable for services 

(holding account)

The Commission receives income from the 
State Government partly in cash and partly 
as an asset (holding account receivable). 
The accrued amount is accessible on 
the emergence of the cash funding 
requirement to cover leave entitlements 
and asset replacement.

(o) Receivables 

Receivables are recognised at original 
invoice amount less an allowance for any 
uncollectible amounts (impairment). The 
collectability of receivables is reviewed 
on an ongoing basis and any receivables 

identified as uncollectible are written 
off against the allowance account. The 
allowance for uncollectible amounts 
(doubtful debts) is raised when there is 
objective evidence that the Commission 
will not be able to collect the debts. The 
carrying amount is equivalent to fair value 
as it is due for settlement within 30 days.  

(p) Payables

Payables are recognised when the 
Commission becomes obliged to make 
future payments as a result of a purchase 
of assets or services at fair value, as they 
are generally settled within 30 days.

(q) Provisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing 
or amount and are recognised where there 
is a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of a past event and when the 
outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits is probable and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period. 

Provisions – employee benefits

All annual leave and long service leave 
provisions are in respect of employee’s 
services up to the end of the reporting 
period.

Annual leave and long service leave 

The liability for annual and long service 
leave expected to be settled within 
12 months after the reporting period 
is recognised and measured at the 
undiscounted amounts expected to 
be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
Annual and long service leave expected 
to be settled more than 12 months after 
the reporting period is measured at the 
present value of amounts expected to be 
paid when the liabilities are settled. Leave 
liabilities are in respect of services provided 
by employees up to the reporting period.

When assessing expected future 
payments consideration is given to 
expected future wage and salary levels 
including non-salary components such as 
employer superannuation contributions. 

In addition, the long service leave liability 
also considers the experience of employee 
departures and periods of service.

The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the 
end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity 
that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows.

All annual leave and unconditional long 
service leave provisions are classified as 
current liabilities as the Commission does 
not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the reporting period.

Purchased leave 

The provision for purchased leave relates 
to Public Service employees who have 
entered into an agreement to self-fund 
up to an additional 10 weeks leave per 
calendar year.  The provision recognises 
the value of salary set aside for employees 
and is measured at the nominal amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled. This liability is measured on the 
same basis as annual leave.

Superannuation

The Government Employees 
Superannuation Board (GESB) administers 
public sector superannuation agreements 
in Western Australia in accordance with 
legislative requirements.   Eligibility criteria 
for membership in a particular scheme for 
public sector employees varies according 
to commencement and implementation 
date.

Eligible employees may contribute to 
the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit 
pension scheme now closed to new 
members since 1987, or the Gold State 
Superannuation Scheme (GSS) a defined 
benefit lump sum scheme closed to new 
members since 1995.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for 
the purposes of employees and whole-
of-government reporting.  However, it is 
a defined contribution plan for agency 
purposes because the concurrent 
contributions (defined contributions) made 
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by the Commission to GESB extinguishes 
the agency’s obligations to the related 
superannuation liability.

The Commission has no liabilities under 
the Pension or the GSS. The liabilities 
for the unfunded Pension Scheme and 
the unfunded GSS transfer benefits 
attributable to members, who transferred 
from the Pension Scheme, are assumed 
by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations 
are funded by concurrent contributions 
made by the Commission to GESB. The 
concurrently funded part of the GSS is 
a defined contribution scheme as these 
contributions extinguish all liabilities in 
respect of the concurrently funded GSS 
obligations.

Employees commencing employment prior 
to 16 April 2007 who are not members 
of either the Pension or the GSS became 
non-contributory members of the West 
State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). 
Employees commencing employment on 
or after

16 April 2007 became members of the 
GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 

30 March 2012, existing members of 
WSS and GESB and new employees 
became able to choose their preferred 
superannuation fund. The Commission 
makes concurrent contributions to GESB 
on behalf of employees in compliance 
with the Commonwealth Government’s 
Superannuation Guarantee 
(Administration) Act 1992. Contributions 
to this accumulated scheme extinguish the 
commission’s liability for superannuation 
charges in respect of employees who are 
not members of the pension scheme or 
GSS.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in 
respect of the Pension and GSS schemes, 
and is recouped by the Treasurer for the 
employer’s share.

Provisions – other

Employment on-costs

Employment on-costs, including worker’s 
compensation insurance, are not 
employee benefits and are recognised 
separately as liabilities and expenses 
when the employment to which they 
relate has occurred. Employment on-
costs are included as part of ‘Other 
expenses’ and are not included as part 
of the Commission’s ‘Employee benefits 
expense’. The related liability is included in 
‘Employment on-costs provision’.

(r) Superannuation expense 

The superannuation expense in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
comprises employer contributions paid 
to the GSS (concurrent contributions), 
the West State Superannuation Scheme 
(WSS), and the GESB Super Scheme 
(GESBS).

(s) Services received free of charge 
or for nominal cost

Services received free of charge or for 
nominal cost that can be reliably measured 
are recognised as income at fair value, and 
an expense is recognised for the service.

Assets or services are received from 
other State Government agencies, are 
separately disclosed under Income from 
State Government in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

(t) Comparative figures

Comparative figures are, when 
appropriate, reclassified to be comparable 
with figures presented in the current 
financial year.

3. Judgements made by 
management in applying 
accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements 
requires management to make judgements 
about the application of accounting 
policies that have a significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements.  The Commission evaluates 
these judgements regularly.

Operating lease commitment

The Commission has entered into a 
number of leases for buildings for branch 
office accommodation.  Some of these 
leases relate to buildings of a temporary 
nature and it has been determined that 
the lessor retains subsequently all risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership. 
Accordingly, the lease has been classified 
as operating leases.

4. Key sources of estimation 
uncertainty

Key estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future are based on 
historical experience and various other 
factors that have significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities with the 
next financial year.

Long Service Leave

Several estimations and assumptions 
used in calculating the Commission’s long 
service leave provision include expected 
future salary rates, discount rates, 
employee retention rates and expected 
future payments. Changes in these 
estimations and assumptions may impact 
on the carrying amount of the long service 
leave provision.
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Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning 

on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of 
AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures amended the mandatory application date of this Standard to 1 
January 2015.  The Commission has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
the Standard.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

This Standard supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and Int 
112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, introducing a number of changes to accounting 
treatments.

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities by 
AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and Other 
Amendments.  The Commission has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
the Standard.

1 Jan 2014

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Commission has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
July 2012 that impacted on the Commission.

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 
121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 & 1049].

This Standard requires to group items presented in other comprehensive income on the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to 
profit or loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments).  There is no financial impact.

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

The Commission cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian 
Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. Consequently, the Commission has not applied early any of the following Australian 
Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the Commission.  Where applicable, the Commission plans to apply these 
Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.
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Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning 

on/after

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement

This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value and requires 
additional disclosures about fair value measurements.  There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 119 Employee Benefits

This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010), making changes to the recognition, 
presentation and disclosure requirements.

The Commission does not have any defined benefit plans, and therefore the financial impact will be 
limited to the effect of discounting annual leave and long service leave liabilities that were previously 
measured at the undiscounted amounts.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting

This Standard specifies the nature of budgetary disclosures, the circumstances in which they are to 
be included in the general purpose financial statements of not-for-profit entities within the GGS.  The 
Commission will be required to disclose additional budgetary information and  explanations of major 
variances between actual and budgeted amounts, though there is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2014

AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
[AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 101, 102, 107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 116, 117, 119, 121, 123, 124, 127, 128, 
131, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 140, 141, 1050 & 1052 and Int 2, 4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129 & 1052]

This Standard makes amendments to Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations to 
introduce reduced disclosure requirements for certain types of entities.  There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 
3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 
and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010.

AASB 2012-6 amended the mandatory application date of this Standard to 1 January 2015.  The 
Commission has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and 
Transition Disclosures [AASB 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 2011-7 & 2011-8]

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date of AASB 9 Financial Instruments to 1 January 
2015.  Further amendments are also made to consequential amendments arising from AASB 9 that 
will now apply from 1 January 2015 and to consequential amendments arising out of the Standards 
that will still apply from 1 January 2013.  There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013
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2013	$ 2012	$

6. Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries (a) 2,074,689 2,233,902

Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 212,180 204,877

2,286,869 2,438,779

a.	 Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements including superannuation contribution 
component.

b.	 Defined contribution plans include West State and Gold State and GESB Super Scheme (contributions paid).

Employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance are included at note 12 ‘Other expenses’.  The employment on-costs liability is included at note 
26 ‘Provisions’. 

7. Supplies and services
Communication 46,850 61,796

Consultants and contractors 1,001,462 1,342,681

Consumables 77,542 122,245

Travel 34,827 40,515

Other 122,868 123,485

1,283,549 1,690,722

8. Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation

Office equipment 25,008 20,099

Buildings 71,916 84,091

Infrastructure 46,160 46,160

Total depreciation 143,084 150,350

Amortisation

Intangible assets 1,868 3,559

Total amortisation 1,868 3,559

Total depreciation and amortisation 144,952 153,909

9. Accommodation expenses
Lease rentals 222,066 218,124

Cleaning 10,173 15,587

232,239 233,711

10. Grants and subsidies
Recurrent

Non public organisations (a) 450,115 387,749

Public sector organisations (a) 1,929,484 356,210

Royalties for Regions funds 588,398 3,502,933

2,967,997 4,246,892

a.	 Refer to Annual Report for detail of grant recipients.
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11. Loss on disposal of non current assets
Proceeds of disposal of non-current assets                                                     5,451,640 -

Costs of disposal of non-current assets                                                              5,525,000 -

Loss on disposal of non current assets (73,360) -

12. Other expenses
Repairs and maintenance 20,698 24,702

Employment on-costs (a) 11,544 12,245

Other employment costs 27,507 23,265

Audit costs (b) 35,350 34,600

Internal audit costs 8,320 -

Contributions 13,900 -

Shire of Collie – Lake Kepwari 200,000 -

317,319 94,812

a.	 Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service 
leave liability is included at note 26 'Provisions'. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not 
included in employment on-costs.

b.	 Audit fees, see note 32 'Remuneration of auditor'.

13. Grants and contributions
Non public organisations - 25,000

Public organisations 19,990 87,500

 19,990 112,500

14. Other revenue
Sundry income 51,083 91,126

Department of Water - 47,000

Recoup expenses Tourism WA - 105,306

Austrade service contract 6,800 84,992

Recoup conference expenses - 10,778

Rental from property 35,548 1,891

Government vehicle scheme - 9,699

 93,431 350,792

15. Income from State Government
Appropriation received during the year

Service appropriation (a) 4,517,000 4,445,000

 4,517,000 4,445,000

Grant from government agencies

Department of Regional Development and Lands - 1,567,000

- 1,567,000
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Resources received free of charge (b)

Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:

Building management and works 19,668 14,556

State Solicitor 675

19,668 15,231

Royalties for Regions Fund

Regional Community Services Fund – DRIFT (c) 750,000

Regional Community Services Fund (c) 847,000 1,160,000

Country Local Government Fund (c) 180,000

Capacity Building Blueprint 192,500

1,039,500 2,090,000

Total revenue from State Government 5,576,168 8,117,231

a.	 Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the net cost of services delivered. The appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a 
receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liability during the year.

b.	 Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as revenue at fair value of the asset and/or services that can reliably measured 
and which would have been purchased if not donated. Contributions or assets or services in the nature of contributions by owners are recognised direct to 
equity.

c.	 This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The recurrent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.

16. Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Current

Restricted projects

Cash held in the account to be used specifically for the approved projects listed (a)

Active Ageing Strategy 14,301 15,300

Affordable Housing 24,000 -

Ag Food Study 65,000 -

Balingup Main Street Redevelopment 87,500 87,500

Board Minor projects board approved 47,120 28,370

Building a Better Harvey 60,000 60,000

Bunbury Light Sculpture -   15,000

Bushfire Early Warning 19,000 19000

Bunbury/Jaixing Development Office - 22,560

Capes Higher Education Project 10,000 -

Capes Region Organisation of Councils - 20,000

Cinefest Oz Festival 20,000 -

Collie Kemerton Integrated Water MS 3,459 -

Cowaramup-Relocation of Waste Station 300,000 300,000

Creative Industries Economic Opportunity 39,452 -

Critical Horizons - 22,623

Cruise Shipping- Industry Development 10,000

Dolphin Discovery Centre-Masterplan - 15000

Digital Economic Strategy 50,000 -

Drift Marketing Strategy 14,287 18,544

Jiaxing- Office support 1,524 -

Jiaxing-Bunbury Trade Mission 18,000 -

Karla Centre in Collie 87,500 -

Lake Kepwari 2,666,349 2866349
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Land Sale Project 4,520,953 -

Margaret River Bushland Rehab. 50,000 -

Master Bike Plan -   11873

National Broadband Positioning 68,985 74,192

Pemberton Artworks Wall 27,000 -

Picton Land Development 674,964 774964

Preston River Diversion Study 8,500 -

Planning Support People and Place 30,000 60000

Seniors Housing Plan Pilot 19,990 -

South West Events 14,166 -

Youth Mental Health Services - 120,000

World Energy Equipment 45,000 -

Withers Urban Renewal 3,244 159,924

Total current restricted cash 9,000,294 4,691,199

Royalties for Regions projects restricted

Regional Grant Scheme  1,258 (263,186)

Regional Investment Blueprint 118,641 -

Country Local Government  27,470 142,304

SuperTowns  37,368 378,259

Total Royalties for Regions  184,737 257,376

Non-current

Accrued salaries suspense (b) 49,262 42,211

Total non-current restricted cash 49,262 42,211

Total restricted cash 9,234,293 4,990,786

a.	 Unspent funds are committed to projects in WA regional areas.

b.	 Amount held is only to be used for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years.

17. Receivables
Current 

Receivable other 9,629 -

Receivables 43,818 108,321

Accrued revenue - 12,990

GST receivable 64,752 42,954

Prepayments 6,402 31,170

 124,601 195,435

The Commission does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.

18. Amounts receivable for services
Current 62,000 62,000

Non-current 1,221,000 1,087,000

 1,283,000 1,149,000

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.
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19. Property, plant and equipment
Office equipment

At cost 201,266 187,266

Accumulated depreciation (142,655) (117,646)

58,611 69,620

Buildings

At fair value (a) 1,768,100 1,850,000

1,768,100 1,850,000

Land

At fair value (a) 7,717,600 7,859,100

7,717,600 7,859,100

Works of art

At fair value (b) 12,000 12,000

Artefacts at fair value (b) 1,786,560 1,786,560

1,798,560 1,798,560

Total property, plant and equipment 11,342,871 11,577,280

a.	 Freehold land and buildings were re-valued as at 1 July 2012 by the Western Australian Land Information  Commission (Valuation Services). The valuations 
were performed during the year ended 30 June 2013 and recognised at 30 June 2013.  In undertaking the revaluation fair value was determined by reference 
to market value for land. 

b.	 The revaluation of work of Art was performed in accordance with an independent valuation by the Wayne Gardiner (Valuers and Auction Consultant). Fair value 
(depreciated replacement value) was determined by existing use. The effective date of the valuation is March 2010.

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out 
below.

2013 Land Buildings
Office 

Equipment Works of Art Total 

Carrying amount at start of year 7,859,100 1,850,000 69,620 1,798,560 11,577,280

Additions  -  - 14,000  - 14,000

Revaluation/Adjustment (141,500) (9,984) - - (151,484)

Disposals - - - - -

Depreciation written back - - - - -

Depreciation - (71,916) (25,009) - (96,925)

Carrying amount at end of year 7,717,600 1,768,100 58,611 1,798,560 11,342,871

2012 Land Buildings
Office 

Equipment Works of Art Total

Loss 3,684,000 1,850,000 54,781 1,798,560 7,387,341

Additions  -  - 34,938  - 34,938

Disposals  -  -  -  - 

Revaluation/Adjustment 8,448,582 84,091  -  - 8,532,673

Classified as assets held for sale (5,525,000)  -  -  - (5,525,000)

Transfer between asset class 1,251,518  -  -  - 1,251,518

Depreciation written back  -  -  -  - -

Depreciation  - (84,091) (20,099)  - (104,190)

Carrying amount at end of year 7,859,100 1,850,000 69,620 1,798,560 11,577,280
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20. Infrastructure
At fair value 1,150,000 1,150,000

Accumulated depreciation (184,481) (138,321)

965,519 1,011,679

The latest revaluation of infrastructure was performed in accordance with an independent valuation by the Western Australian Land Information Commission 
(Valuation Services). Fair value (depreciated replacement value) was determined by existing use.

Reconciliations

Carrying amount at start of year 1,011,679 1,057,840

Depreciation (46,160) (46,161)

Carrying amount at end of year 965,519 1,011,679

21. Intangible assets
Computer software

At cost 22,000 15,890

Accumulated depreciation (17,758) (15,890)

Carrying amount at end of year 4,242 -

Reconciliations

Carrying amount at start of year - 3,559

Additions 6,110 -

Depreciation written back (1,868) -

Depreciation (3,559)

Carrying amount at end of year 4,242 -

22. Non-current assets classified as held for sale
Opening balance

Asset reclassified as held for sale  - 5,525,000

Less write down from cost to fair value less sellers cost -

Closing balance - 5,525,000

The assets are three lots of land that will be sold during the financial year 2012/13. Proceeds of land sales will be expended on project activities in the South West.

23. Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment of property, plant and equipment, infrastructure or intangible assets at 30 June 2013.

The Commission held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period and at reporting date there 
were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

All surplus assets at 30 June 2013 have been classified as assets held for sale or written off.
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24. Payables
Current 

Other payables 20,934 186,825

Accrued expenses 657,548 66,824

Accrued salaries 56,841 52,819

735,323 306,467

25. Provisions
Current

Employee benefits provision

Purchased leave 17 -

Annual leave (a) 303,222 329,539

Long service leave (b) 346,727 278,215

649,966 607,754

Other provisions

Employment on-costs (c) 6,500 6,077

6,500 6,077

Total current provisions 656,466 613,831

Non-current

Long service leave (b) 90,841 138,244

90,841 138,244

Other provisions

Employment on-costs (c) 908 1,268

908 1,268

Total non-current provisions 91,749 139,512

Total provisions 748,215 753,343

a.	 Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as  there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after reporting date. 
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 197,723 329,539

More than 12 months after reporting date 105,499 -

303,222 329,539

b.	 Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting 
period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 346,727 278,215

More than 12 months after the reporting period 90,841 138,244

437,568 416,459

c.	 The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities give rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers compensation insurance. The 
provision is the present value of expected future payments. The associated expense is included at note 12 ‘Other expenses'.
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Movements in provisions

Movements in provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below.

Employment on-cost provision

Carrying amount at start of year 7,343 6,328

Additional provisions recognised 65 1,015

Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits - -

Carrying amount at end of year 7,408 7,343

26. Equity
Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Commission. The Government holds the equity interest in the Commission 
on behalf of the community. The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current 
assets.

Contributed equity

Balance at start of year 11,389,177 11,389,177

Contributions by owners - -

Capital contribution - -

Balance at end of year 11,389,177 11,389,177

Reserves

Asset revaluation reserve

Balance at start of year 12,921,945 4,389,272

Net revaluation increments

Land (141,500) 8,448,582

Buildings (9,984) 84,091

Balance at end of year 12,770,461 12,921,945

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)

Balance at start of year (181,171) 97,131

Result for the period (1,616,696) (278,302)

Balance at end of year (1,797,867) (181,171)

Total equity at end of period 22,361,771        24,129,951

27. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of 
Financial Position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalent 888,583 740,582

Restricted cash and cash equivalent (refer to note 16) 9,236,493 4,990,786

10,125,076 5,731,368
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Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows used in operating activities

Net cost of services (7,192,864) (8,395,533)

Non-cash items:

Depreciation expense 144,952 153,909

Services received free of charge 19,668 15,231

Loss on disposal of property (land) 55,000 -

Adjustment - -

(Increase)/decrease in assets: - -

Current receivables (b) 92,733 (126,282)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Current accounts payable (b) 430,507 (80,194)

Current provisions 42,635 68,040

Other current liabilities - 397

Non-current provisions (47,763) (30,173)

Net GST receipts/(payments) (b) (23,550) -

Change in GST receivables/payables (a) (457) 2,987

Net cash used in operating activities (6,479,139) (8,391,616)

a.	 This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.

b.	 Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current 
assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.

28. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers
Remuneration of members of the accountable authority

The numbers of members of the accountable authority, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits, and other 
benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

2013 2012 2013	$ 2012	$

$0           -  $10,000 7 12

$10,001  -  $20,000 2 1

$50,000  -  $60,000 1 0

The total remuneration of the members of the accountable authority is: 117,406 62,582

The total remuneration includes superannuation expenses incurred by the Commission in respect of members of the accountable authority.  
No members of the accountable authority are members of the Pension Scheme.

Remuneration of senior officers

The number of senior officers, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following 
bands is:

2013 2012 2013	$ 2012	$

$20,000   -  $30,000 1 0

$110,001 -  $150,000 4 4

$150,001 -  $250,000 1 2

The total remuneration of senior officers is: 802,703 879,917

The superannuation included here represents the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect of senior officers of the accountable authority. 
No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.
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29. Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators 31,500       30,250

Payment for auditing services is paid in the following year. Audit fee for 2012/13 will be paid in 2013/14.

30. Lease commitments
Non cancellable operating lease commitments

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 252,192 326,997

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 806,820 1,165,801

Later than 5 years 635,383 1,326,303

1,694,394 2,819,101

31. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
There are no contingent liabilities or assets that the Commission is aware of as at 30 June 2013.

Contaminated Sites

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Commission is required to report known and suspected contaminated sites to the 
Department of Environment and Conservation (DEC).  In accordance with the Act, DEC classifies these sites on the basis of the risk to 
human health, the environment and environmental values. Where sites are classified as contaminated – remediation required or possibly 
contaminated – investigation required, the Commission may have a liability in respect of investigation or remediation expenses.

The Commission has no known or suspected contaminated sites.

32. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
There are no events occurring after the balance sheet date that the Commission is aware of as at the date of this report

33. Explanatory statement
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expenses are shown below. Significant variations are 
considered to be those greater than 10% and $30,000.

Actual Estimates

Expenses 2013 $ 2013 $  Variance $

Employee benefit expense 2,286,869 2,494,000 207,131

Supplies and services 1,283,549 1,064,000 (219,549)

Accommodation expenses 232,239 405,000 172,761

Grants and subsidies 2,967,997 1,300,000 (1,667,997)

Loss on disposal of non current assets 73,360 - (73,360)

Income

Other revenue 93,431 10,000 (83,431)

Royalties for Regions 1,039,500 1,200,000 160,500

Employee benefits expense

Actual wages and salary cost has decreased due to a reduction of two full-time employees.

Supplies and services

Increase due to government initiative professional services expense for feasibility studies for Supertowns Margaret River, Collie and 
Manjimup.
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Accommodation expenses

The accommodation budget in 2012/13 included the outgoing component paid under supplies and services for accommodation 
expenses.

Grants and subsidies expense

Grants and subsidy payments vary and are dependent on project completion.  The budget estimates in 2013 did not include additional 
grant funding income for cabinet approved projects -  Busselton walkways, Withers development and Margaret River perimeter road.

Loss on disposal of non current assets

The Commission sold three lots land.  The fair market value of the land held for sale was $5,525,000.   Proceeds of disposal including 
cost of sale $5,451,640, therefore a loss has been recognised in this year’s financial income statement.

Other revenue

The variance is due to the variable recoupment from other stakeholders for project activities managed by the SWDC.   The SWDC does 
not have constant income apart from the service appropriation provided by State Government to cover the cost of overheads incurred.

Royalties for Regions

Regional Grant Scheme fund income for 2012/13 has been transferred to 2013/14.

Significant variances between actual results for 2013 and 2012

2013 $ 2012$  Variance $

Expenses

Employee benefit expense 2,286,869 2,438,779 (151,910)

Supplies and services 1,283,549 1,690,722 (407,173)

Grants and subsidies 2,967,997 4,246,892 (1,278,895)

Loss on disposal of non current assets 73,360 - (73,360)

Other expenses 317,319 94,812 222,507

Income

Grants and contributions - 112,500 (112,500)

Other revenue 93,431 350,792 (257,361)

Royalties for Regions 1,039,500 2,090,000 (1,050,500)

Grant from state government agency - 1,567,000 (1,567,000)

Employee benefit expense

The variance is due to a reduction of two full-time employees. 

Supplies and services

In  2011/12 supplies and services increased due to Supertown's Royalties for Regions project initiative. In 2012/13 the fund expenditure 
decreased due to the completion of this feasibility project.

Grants and subsidies expense

Grants and subsidy payments vary and are dependent on project completion.  

In 2011/12, the Regional Grant Scheme expenditure accounted for most of the grant expense. In 2012/13 income was generated by the 
sale of land for cabinet approved grant expenditure projects.

Disclosures and legal compliance



70

Loss on disposal of land

No land was sold in 2011/12, therefore no comparative is available. 

Other expenses

A refund for restricted cash project Lake Kepwari to Shire of Collie for $200,000 increased our Other expenses in 2012/13.

Grants and contribution

Contributions vary and in 2011/12 we received additional funds for the Withers project, from City of Bunbury.

Other revenue

The variance is due to the recoupment from other stakeholders for project activities managed by the SWDC.

Austrade revenue for our Tradestart employee decreased in 2012/13. WA Tourism subsidy contract for one employee member expired in 
2011/12. Department of Water income for project Collie Kemerton Intergrated Water shall be received in 2013/14.

Royalties for Regions

2011/12 income included Regional Grant Scheme, Drift and Country Local Government.  In 2012/13 income decreased for final 
milestone Regional Grant Scheme payments and new project initiative Regional Planning.

Grants from State government agency

In 2011/12 Department of Regional Development and Lands(DRDL) distributed partial funds for feasibility study initiatives for Supertowns 
Manjimup, Margaret River and Collie.

No funds were received from DRDL during 2012/13.

34. Financial instruments
a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial instruments held by the Commission are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, loans, receivables 
and payables. The Commission has limited exposure to financial risks. The Commission's overall risk management program focuses on 
managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Commission’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Commission.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross 
carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown at Note 17.

Credit risk associated with the Commission’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts receivable for 
services (holding account).  For receivables other than government, the Commission trades only with recognised, creditworthy third 
parties.  Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Commission’s exposure to bad debts is minimal.  
At the end of the reporting period there are no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Commission is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Commission is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

The Commission has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash 
flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices and interest rates. The Commission's does not trade in foreign currency and is not 
materially exposed to other price risks, as they have a no Interest Bearing financial assets or liabilities.
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b) Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:

2013 $ 2012 $

Financial assets

Cash and Cash equivalents 888,583 740,582

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 9,236,493 4,990,786

Receivables(1) 59,849 152,481

Amounts receivable for services 1,283,000 1,149,000

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 735,323 306,467

1.	 The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

c)  Financial instruments disclosure

Credit risk and liquidity risk

The following table discloses the Commission’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The 
Commission’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown 
below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is 
based on information provided to senior management of the Commission.

The Commission does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds.

The tables reflect the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section includes 
principal cash flows. 

Ageing analysis of financial assets

Carrying 
amount $

Not past 
due and not 

impaired $

      Past due but not impaired Impaired 
financial 
assets $

Up to 3 
months $

3 - 12 
months $

1 - 5 
 years $

2013

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 888,583 888,583 - - - -

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 9,236,493 9,236,493 - - - -

Receivables(a) 59,849 59,849 - - - -

Amounts receivable for services 1,283,000 1,283,000 - - - -

11,467,925 11,467,925 - - - -

2012

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 740,582 740,582 - - - -

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 4,990,786 4,990,786 - - - -

Receivables(a) 152,481 152,481 - - - -

Amounts receivable for services 1,149,000 1,149,000 - - - -

7,032,849 7,032,849 - - - -

a.	 The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities

Carrying 
amount $

Nominal 
amount $

Maturity date

Up to 3 
months $

3 - 12 
months $

More than 
 5 years $

2013

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 888,583 888,583 888,583

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 9,236,493 9,236,493 9,236,493

Receivables(a) 59,849 59,849 59,849

Amounts receivable for services 1,283,000 1,283,000 1,283,000

11,467,925 11,467,925 11,467,925

Financial liabilities

Payables 735,323 735,323 735,323

735,323 735,323 735,323

2012

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 740,582 740,582 740,582

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 4,990,786 4,990,786 4,990,786

Receivables(a) 152,481 152,481 152,481

Amounts receivable for services 1,149,000 1,149,000 1,149,000

7,032,849 7,032,849 7,032,849

Financial liabilities

Payables 306,467 306,467 306,467

306,467 306,467 306,467

Fair values

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are 
recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

Interest rate exposure and sensitivity analysis is not required as the Commission holds no Interest Bearing financial assets or liabilities.
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We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on 
proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to 
assess the South West Development Commission’s performance, 
and fairly represent the performance of the South West 
Development Commission year ended 30 June 2013.

Certification of Key Performance Indicators 
for the year ended 30 June 2013

South West Development Commission chief executive officer Don 
Punch addresses attendees of a SuperTowns briefing in Bunbury.

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AND KEY PERFORMANCE 

INDICATORS REPORT 

ON OUR PERFORMANCE 

THROUGHOUT THE YEAR

Stuart Hicks
Chairman of the Board
13 September 2013

 

Don Punch
Member of the Board
13 September 2013
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Desired outcome

The South West Development Commission’s outcome is to 
coordinate and promote an environment which is conducive 
to the balanced economic development of the South West 
Region.

Key service

The Commission aims to build quality of life in the South 
West region through the development of new industries, 
more diverse opportunities for its residents, and community 
and industry infrastructure, while advancing sustainable jobs 
growth.

Relationship with Government policy

The South West Development Commission delivers its 
services through three strategic themes:  Investing in People 
and Place, Investing in Infrastructure and Environment, and 
Investing in Knowledge, Enterprise and Innovation.

These three strategic themes integrate together to provide 
a balanced approach to regional development. They are 
also aligned with the State Government’s strategic planning 
framework, ‘Stronger Focus on the Regions’, with greater 
focus on service delivery, infrastructure investment and 
economic development to improve the overall quality of life 
in remote and regional areas.

The activities of the Commission aim to ensure that the 
South West is a strong and vibrant region.

Key effectiveness indicators

As in previous years, the Commission’s effectiveness 
indicators are based on an evaluation survey conducted by 
an independent consultant.

Client Satifaction Survey 2013

As part of the performance management component of 
the Commission's strategic planning process, independent 
consultancy firm, Savant Surveys and Strategies, was 
employed to undertake the 2013 SWDC Client Satisfaction 
Survey. Key stakeholders were surveyed to determine their 

views and understanding of the Commission's role, activities 
and performance. 

For all survey periods since 2003, two distinct sample 
populations have been identified – local governments and 
key clients. 

This year’s survey involved using an online self completion 
methodology. The contacts were sent an email invitation 
to complete the annual client survey online. The survey 
questionnaire was distributed to all of the clients (230), 
including local government representatives (24). A total of 
80 clients were interviewed, out of a possible 230 (useable 
sample). This results in a maximum survey error of +/- 8.87 
per cent at 95 per cent level of confidence.  

As often occurs with surveys of small populations (i.e. 
<500), the sample obtained (N=80) fell short of the minimum 
number required (N=144) to meet the OAG’s statistical 
standard for the given population (N=230). Therefore, 
although generalisations from the sample to the population 
should be made with caution, a response rate of 34.78 per 
cent is commendable and a great deal of valuable data has 
been obtained.

Of the 80 responses received, a total of 12 local government 
representatives responded equating to a response rate of 
50 per cent.   A total of 68 key clients responded out of the 
206 equating to 33 per cent.   Overall, the 80 key clients 
responded, from a useable population of 230. This equates 
to a response rate of 34.78 per cent.

A total of 82.3 per cent rated the Commission as 
'effective’ in 2012/13.  It would appear that perceptions of 
effectiveness has increased within local government with a 
result of 100 per cent effectiveness rating, but decreased to 
79 per cent within key clients.   In 2011/12, 83.7 per cent of 
key clients found the overall service ‘effective’. 

The mean response for 2012/13 for local government was 
5.58, Strongly Agree and Mildly Agree and for key clients 
5.88, which fall between Strongly Agree and Strongly 
Disagree.

Key performance indicators
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Key efficiency indicator
Average cost per hour of service

The operating costs of the South West Development Commission are based on the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income total cost of services (excluding grants and subsidies) for the relevant period. Hourly 
cost is determined by dividing the expenditure for the period by the total hours worked for the period. 

Service: regional development 

Notes on variance between reporting periods

Note 1

Operating cost information is sourced from the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income excluding grants 
and project costs paid direct to other agencies. A net 
movement of $273,646 is shown. Fluctuations are to 
be expected, given the variable nature of project costs 
associated with projects managed by the Commission. 
In 2012/13 costs have decreased as SuperTowns 
funds for feasible development planning expenditure 
decreased in the operating cost. Project hour costs 
have increased due to actual hours per activity 
recorded.

Note 2

Project hours are taken from employees' individual 
time sheets and can be influenced by the number and 
intensity of project activity. This year’s project hours 
decrease has been influenced by the reduction of staff.

Note 3

Hours directly attributable to projects or services are 
used to calculate cost per hour and the variance is 
based on the decrease in project hours.

Note 4

The target cost per hour is an estimated figure based 
on expected staffing levels, project activities and 
strategic planning.

Average cost per hour Note 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10

Operating cost 1 $4,338,288 $4,611,934 $4,124,092 $3,860,987

Project / service hours 2 20,844 26,815 27,327 26,728

Cost	per	hour 3 $202 $172 $151 $144

Target 4 $178 $175 $180 $175

2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10

Target 80% 5.60 79% 5.53 78% 5.46 76% 5.32

Total client average 82% 5.83 84% 5.87 82% 5.74 79% 5.60

Local governments 100% 5.58 84% 5.15 83% 5.81 58% 5.00

Key clients 79% 5.88 84% 6.09 82% 5.74 83% 5.70

Effectiveness of the South West Development Commission

% = response rate  ~  1 = ineffective, 7 = very effective

	• Problem solving

	• Project development

	• Information about the region/Commission

	• Advocacy

	• Community consultation

	• Co-ordination between other organisations

The results for key clients showed a marginally increased level of use for many of the services 
provided by the Commission. The key areas of service use were (in order of frequency):
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Employment and industrial relations

As at the end of June 2013 the Commission had 22 full-time 
equivalent employees. 

The Commission’s employees are employed under the 
Public Service General Agreement 2008.

There were no workers compensation claims during the 
year.

Staff profile

The Commission recognises the benefits of workplace 
diversity and has a continued commitment to furthering 
these principles.

Seventy one per cent of employees were aged over 45 with 
no employees aged less than 25 years. Fifty eight per cent 
of employees were female and 4 per cent Aboriginal with no 
non-English speaking background employees. On a regular 
basis the Commission hosts school-based work experience 
students and TAFE structured workplace learning students.

Staff profile 2012/13 2011/12

Full-time permanent 17 18

Full-time contract 2 2

Part-time measured 
on FTE basis 3 4

Total 22 24

Work-life balance

The Commission is committed to providing a working 
environment that takes into consideration the needs of 
employees and their families. The approach taken by the 
Commission is to provide flexible working arrangements that 
include the opportunity for employees to adjust their working 
hours through the use of flexi-time and to work from home.

Type of flexible 
arrangement

Permanent 
staff 

(headcount)

Contract 
staff

(headcount)

Proportion 
of total 

staff

Working from home 1 1 4%

Working part-time 5 0 20%

Flexible start/finish 18 0 75%

Purchased leave 
arrangements 1 0 4%

Employee volunteering

The South West Development Commission is committed 
to providing services for the community and as a part of 
that service we encourage and support our employees to 
participate in community volunteering on a personal level as 
well as on behalf of the Commission.

Employees are able to undertake volunteering duties by 
utilising the Commission’s flexible working arrangements, 
donating during fundraising activities and community 
organised events.

Professional development

The purpose of the Commission’s Professional Development 
Policy is to encourage and support employees to actively 
pursue their professional and career development as an 
integral element of their employment with the Commission. 
The Commission acknowledges that continuing professional 
development contributes to personal job satisfaction, 
workplace productivity, reward and recognition.

The Commission identifies organisational goals and 
priorities, and develops and implements a range of 
strategies and programs to enhance and build the capacity, 
skills and professionalism of employees to enable them 
to contribute effectively to the Commission's mission and 
strategic directions. The Commission is committed to 
providing employees with:

	• The opportunity to develop capabilities that complement 
organisational and work goals.

	• The opportunity to develop a career plan and participate 
in career development activities that extend and enhance 
their capabilities and capacity for advancement within the 
Public Sector.

	• Equity of access to professional development 
opportunities.

2012/13

Total training costs $23,583

Average training investment $983 pp

Staff who received study assistance 2

Staff who participated in professional 
development 19

Staff who received training courses 12

Other financial disclosures

Disclosures
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Training initiatives in 2012/13 included:

	• Emergence Creative Festival

	• Airport Operations

	• Excel

	• Workplace First Aid 

	• Accountable and Ethical Decision Making

	• Project Management

	• Defensive driver training with gravel

Study assistance in 2012/13 included:

	• Certificate of Management

	• Certificate of Community Development

Governance disclosures 

Contracts with senior officers

At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of 
employment of service, no senior officers, or firms of which 
senior officers are members, or entities in which senior 
officers have substantial interests had any interest in existing 
or proposed contracts with the Commission and senior 
officers.

Directors liability insurance

The Commission maintained Directors Liability Insurance for 
2012/13 with the total premium being $1,815.00.

Ministerial directives

No directives were received from the Minister for Regional 
Development during the year in review.

Other legal requirements

Disability access and inclusion plan outcomes

The South West Development Commission has a Disability 
Access and Inclusion Plan designed to ensure all people are 
considered in all its activities and services. The plan ensures 
access to Commission activities and events, buildings and 
facilities and information. It also ensures all people receive 
the same quality of service and opportunities to participate 
at the Commission as everyone else. The plan can be 
accessed from the Commission’s website or by phoning (08) 
9792 2000.

1.	 All people have the same opportunities to access services 
of, and any events organised by the Commission – 
Ensuring there is flexibility and adaptability in responding 
to any barriers experienced by people accessing services 
or events is considered a key initiative to achieve this 
outcome.  Policies and procedures are adapted where 
required.  

2.	 All people have the same opportunities to access the 
buildings and other facilities of the Commission – The 
Commission works in conjunction with the landlords to 
ensure that all buildings present no barriers to access 
and are developing a culture of awareness within the 
Commission to ensuring no barriers to access occur.

3.	 All people receive information from the Commission in 
a format that will enable them to access information 
readily – All information on services and public functions 
are produced using clear and concise language with an 
option of accessing this information in alternative formats 
if required upon request.

4.	 All people receive the same level and quality of service 
from the staff of the Commission – Customer service 
officers are fully trained to provide a professional and 
courteous customer service to all people.

5.	 All people have the same opportunities to make 
complaints to the Commission – Access to the 
Commissions complaints system is offered in a variety of 
formats.

6.	 All people have the same opportunities to participate 
in any public consultation by the Commission – The 
Commission ensured that all people are encouraged to 
take an active role in their community and worked to 
overcome any barriers.

Compliance with public sector standards and 
ethical codes

The following compliance issues arose during 2012/13:

	• Public Sector Standards: No breach claims were lodged.

	• WA Code of Ethics: No breach claims were lodged.

	• SWDC Code of Conduct: No breach of conducts 
occurred.

The Commission has developed policy, guidelines and 
processes to support compliance with Public Sector 
standards and ensures that all associated activities are 
undertaken in a professional and unbiased manner.  
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Employees are continually kept informed and standards 
reinforced during performance management, training and 
during inductions.

All staff participated in accountability and ethical decision 
making training and information sessions provided by the 
Corruption and Crime Commission.

During the year the following policies were reviewed:

	• SWDC Staff Code of Conduct

	• Gift Policy

	• Delegation of Authority

	• Credit Card Policy

Reporting on record keeping plans

The South West Development Commission’s Record 
Keeping Plan details the record keeping program for the 
agency including which records are to be created and 
how those records are to be kept.  Measures to ensure 
compliance with the State Records Commission – Standard 
2 Record Keeping Plans: Principle 6 – include:

	• A review of the record keeping plan has been completed 
and a revised plan submitted to the State Records 
Commission.

	• The provision of record keeping induction programs for 
new employees addressing their roles and responsibilities.  
Existing staff are given the opportunity to attend record 
keeping training and information sessions.

An annual review of the record keeping training program in 
order to ensure that it is efficient and effective.

Electoral Act compliance

In accordance with s175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, 
the Commission incurred the following expenditure in 
advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media 
advertising.

The total expenditure for 2012/13 was $20,231.

Expenditure was incurred in the following areas:

$ $

Market research Agencies: 10,000

•	 Savant Surveys and Strategies 10,000

Polling Agencies 0 0

Direct mail agencies 0 0

Media advertising agencies:

•	 Adcorp
•	 Rural Press Regional Media
•	 Southwest Printing and Publishing
•	 State Law Publishing

8,656
650
100
121

9,527

Total expenditure 19,527

Freedom of information

The Commission maintains a range of documents 
relating to its business activities in both hard copy and 
electronic form. These documents include inward and 
outward correspondence, contracts, agreements, reports, 
administrative files, personnel records, project files, financial 
records, internal manuals, statistical information, meeting 
minutes, promotional material, pamphlets and brochures, 
human resource information and asset records.

The Commission does not charge for brochures and 
publications. No charge is levied on requests for information 
or access to files although the Commission does reserve the 
right to recoup costs.

The South West Development Commission has a policy 
of providing personal information on request. Requests 
can also be made under the provisions of the Freedom of 
Information Act 1992 for which a $30.00 charge applies.

The contact details of the Freedom of Information Officer are 
as follows:

Chief Finance Officer
South West Development Commission
9th Floor Bunbury Tower
61 Victoria Street
Bunbury   WA   6230

The Commission received no Freedom of Information 
requests during the year. 

Disclosures and legal compliance



SWDC Annual Report 2013 79

Government policy requirements

Occupational safety and health

The South West Development Commission is committed 
to achieving a high standard of occupational safety and 
health performance through effective safety management 
in accordance with the Occupational Safety and Health Act 
1984 and the Government of Western Australia’s Code of 
Practice ‘Occupational Safety and Health in the Western 
Australian Public Sector’.

The objective of the policy is to have workplaces that are 
free of work-related injuries and diseases. This objective will 
be achieved by developing and implementing safe systems 
of work and by continuing to identify hazards and control 
risks as far as practicable.

The Commission will do this by operating in accordance 
with occupational safety and health legislation, regulations, 
approved codes of practice and WorkSafe Plan; by 
making all employees and contractors aware of their OSH 
responsibilities through access to OSH information and 
training; and by encouraging senior management to take 
leadership in OSH matters with a common view to improve 
OSH outcomes.

Consultation, communication and cooperation between 
employers and employees are the key components in 
providing and maintaining a safe and healthy workplace.

The following actions will form the basis of the Commission’s 
consultation mechanism:

	•  Employee involvement in hazard identification, risk 
assessment and risk control process through the 
reporting of potential risk to either their manager or by 
entering that incident in the central register.

	• Accidents that occur

	• Near miss accidents

	• Potential hazards in work areas

	•  Feedback from employees on occupational safety and 
health issues.

	• By survey on an annual basis

	• During team meetings

	•  Communication to employees of the OSH management 
system on implementation and on review.

	•  Inclusion of OSH management system requirements in 
employee inductions.

	•  Regular reporting of OSH issues at corporate executive 
meetings.

	•  Reporting of any irregular OSH risks or incidents to the 
SWDC Audit and Risk Assurance Committee. 

The South West Development Commission is committed to 
providing quality and prompt injury management support to 
all employees of SWDC who sustain a work related injury or 
illness, with a focus on safe and early return to meaningful 
work and in accordance with the Workers’ Compensation 
and Injury Management Act 1981.

The expected injury management outcomes are:

1.	 Return to work in the same position 

2.	 Return to work in a new position

3.	 Return to work in a position with another agency

Annual performance for 2012/13

Target 
2012/13

Actual 
2012/13

Number of fatalities 0 0

Lost time injury/diseases (LTI/D) 
incidence rate 0 0

Lost time injury severity rate 0 0

Percentage of injury n/a

Percentage of managers 
trained in occupational safety, 
health and injury management 
responsibilities

Greater 
than or 
equal to 

50% 25%

Occupational Safety and Health initiatives in 2012/13 
included:

	• Driver awareness training and first aid training were 
undertaken. 

	• Staff also participated in ergonomic testing as part of  a 
continuous injury preventive exercise.
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Complaints management

The South West Development Commission is committed 
to providing customers with high quality services to meet 
their needs, and if customers are dissatisfied with the 
services provided, or the way in which they are provided, the 
Commission is keen to investigate and if necessary rectify 
any problems. 

As such, the Commission has complaints management 
policy and procedures. Access to the policy is available by 
phone, in person or via our website.  A customer feedback 
service has been established to ensure that customer 
complaints are heard and dealt with fairly and quickly 
without prejudice or bias. A variety of formats such as 
telephone, email, written and in person are available for the 
lodgement of complaints to the Commission.

Confidentiality is maintained at all times.

The Commission’s Executive Officer has been appointed the 
complaints officer.

There were no complaints received during the reporting 
period.





South West Development Commission

61	Victoria	Street	Bunbury	WA	6230
PO	Box	2000	Bunbury	WA	6231

Telephone	 +61	08	9792	2000
Facsilile	 +61	08	9791	3223

Email	 swdc@swdc.wa.gov.au
Web	 www.swdc.wa.gov.au

Find	us	on	

http://www.facebook.com/swdc.wa.gov.au?sk=wall

	24
	The year in review  
	Chairman's report
	HIGHLIGHTS
	Executive summary
	About us
	Executive team
	Organisation structure
	Our Board
	Our Minister
	Our region
	ISSUES & TRENDS
	Royalties for Regions – SuperTowns
	People & Place
	Infrastructure & Environment
	Knowledge, Enterprise & Innovation
	Our performance
	Our office, our people
	Funding programs
	South West Events Program
	Non-contestable grants
	Disclosures and legal compliance
	Financial statements
	Independent Auditor's Report
	Key performance indicators
	Other financial disclosures
	Governance disclosures 
	Ministerial directives
	Other legal requirements
	Government policy requirements


